Florida State University Libraries

Electronic Theses, Treatises and Dissertations

The Graduate School

2016

The Impact of States' Policy Response to the Deficit Reduction Act (DRA) on the TANF Work Participation Rate

Na Yeon Kim



Follow this and additional works at the DigiNole: FSU's Digital Repository. For more information, please contact lib-ir@fsu.edu

FLORIDA STATE UNIVRSITY

COLLEGE OF SOCIAL SCIENCES AND PUBLIC POLICY

THE IMPACT OF STATES' POLICY RESPONSE TO THE DEFICIT REDUCTION ACT (DRA) ON THE TANF WORK PARTICIPATION RATE

By

NA YEON KIM

A Dissertation submitted to the Department of Public Administration and Policy in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy Na Yeon Kim defended this dissertation on October 4, 2016 The members of the supervisory committee were:

> Frances S. Berry Professor Directing Dissertation Carol Weissert University Representative Kaifeng Yang Committee Member Keon-Hyung Lee Committee Member

The Graduate School has verified and approved the above-named committee members, and certifies that dissertation has been approved in accordance with university requirements.

Dedicated to my father, mother, sister, and brother for their enormous love and support

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	vi
ABSTRACT	vii
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 TANF Research Questions	1
1.2 Previous Studies on TANF	4
1.3 Contribution of the Study	7
1.4 Organization of the Study	9
2. LITERATURE REVIEW AND HYPOTHESES	11
2.1 Background Information about TANE	11
2.1.1 Personal Responsibility and Work Opportunity Act (PRWORA)	11
2 1 2 Deficit Reduction Act (DRA) of 2005	13
2.2. TANF under Federalism	15
2 3 TANF Work Participation Rate	18
2.3.1 TANE Work Participation Rate	18
2 4 States' Response to Deficit Reduction Act (DRA)	21
2 4 1 Solely State Funded (SSF) Program	23
2 4 2 Worker Supplement Program (WSP)	24
2.4.3 TANF Sanction Policy	
2.5 States' Stance on Welfare	
2.5.1 General Assistance (GA) Program.	
2.5.2 Coverage for Post-Welfare Immigrants	37
2.5.3 State Earned Income Tax Credit (EITC)	
2.5.4 TANF Time Limit Policy	41
2.5.5 Diversion Program	45
2.6 Summary	47
3. RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODS	48
	40
3.1 Research Design	48
3.2 Data	48
3.2.1 Data Definition, Measurement, and Collection	48
3.3 Statistical Method and Model.	
3.3.1 Analytic Technique	
5.5.2 Model	
4. RESULTS	59
5. CONCLUSION	65

5.1 Contribution of the Study	65
5.2 Limitations of the Study	68
5.3 Future Research	/l
5.3.1 Folicy Adoption in SSF Program and wSP	/1
5.5.2 Saliction and State Generosity for Quantieu miningrants	12
APPENDICES	74
A. DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS	74
B. STATES IMPLEMENTING SOLELY STATE FUNDED PROGRAMS FOR TWO	- C
PARENT FAMILIES BETWEEN FY 2007 AND FY 2013	75
C. STATES IMPLEMENTING WORKER SUPPLEMENT PROGRAMS	
STRUCTURING AS ASSISTANCE BETWEEN FY 2007 AND FY 2013	78
D. STATES IMPLEMENTING WORKER SUPPLEMENT PROGRAMS	
STRUCTURING AS NON-ASSISTANCE BETWEEN FY 2007 AND FY 2013	79
E. STATES DISQUALIFYING SNAP FOR FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH TANF	
WORK REQUIREMENTS MORE THAN THE FEDERAL MINIMUM BETWEE	EN
FY 2007 AND FY 2013	80
F. FIXED EFFECTS MODEL OF TANF WORK PARTICIPATION RATES WITHOUT	DUT
WORKER SUPPLEMENT PROGRAM	83
REFERENCES	84
BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH	97

LIST OF TABLES

2.1 Core and Supplemental Work Activities	4
2.2 Number of States Failing to Meet the Work Requirement for All-Families Before and After the DRA	d 20
2.3 Sanction Policies Adopted by States for Noncompliance with TANF Work Requirements for Single Parent Households	60
2.4 State Lifetime Limit and Other State Time Limit Policies in 20134	2
2.5 Expected Direction of Hypotheses	7
3.1 Data Measurement and Source	54
4.1 Fixed Effects Model of TANF Work Participation Rates	50

ABSTRACT

Since the welfare reform in 1996, Temporary Assistance to Needy Families (TANF) research has been centered on the debate with respect to whether states given more independence to make their own choices after 1996, have engaged in a competitive "race to the bottom" to reduce benefits for needy people. Despite the mixed empirical findings, the race to the bottom (RTB) debate in TANF is still a popular subject due to the states' adoption of more severe sanctions, more stringent eligibility, and the overall decline in TANF caseloads. While discussing the race to the bottom in TANF, little attention was given to the impact of the Deficit Reduction Act (DRA) of 2005, which caused significant changes in policy related to implementing TANF. Studies have not been undertaken to determine how states responded to the DRA, not only to meet the tougher requirements but also to serve an increasing number of needy people who were the least likely to be assisted through TANF, were it not for states' strategic plans (e.g., creating solely state funded programs and creating/extending worker supplement programs). This study seeks to test the impact of states' policy responses to the DRA on the TANF work participation rates, an official performance indicator of TANF. In order to empirically test this, a multivariate model is introduced to reveal the differences in TANF performances between states that actively responded to the DRA by adopting programs for more lenient coverage (i.e., worker supplement programs and solely state funded programs) and implementing severe sanctions for noncompliance with work requirements, and those that did not. The dataset is a balanced panel, consisting of fifty states over a 7-year period (2007-2013). The test results show that states implementing worker supplement programs achieve higher TANF performance than states without them. Also, we find that sanction effects may be much larger than we have known given that states sanctioning entire families and/or imposing harsh disqualification on SNAP for failure

to comply with TANF work requirements are more likely to show higher performance in TANF work participation rates. Unlike our expectation, states' generous stance in welfare programs does not affect achieving higher TANF performance.

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 TANF Research Questions

As a society becomes more developed and matured, needs for a well-established welfare system increases accordingly because it reflects people's overall quality of living. In the United States, welfare has been one of the core values society pursues, but debates have always existed with respect to what is an appropriate level of welfare given limited resources. Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF), former Aid to Families with Dependent Children (AFDC), has been central to this debate because it was the primary safety net program providing cash assistance to needy families with children. Since its enactment in 1996, major changes in welfare policy have occurred (e.g., the passage the Personal Responsibility and Work Opportunity Act (PROWRA) in 1996 and the Deficit Reduction Act of 2005). After the passage of PROWRA, new requirements (i.e., time limits and work requirements) were imposed on states in exchange for federal block grants, while the Deficit Reduction Act of 2005 established tougher requirements that made it more difficult for states to achieve higher TANF work participation rates and caseload reductions.

When the new laws were enacted, states adopted federal rules and established (or modified) their own laws and rules that govern TANF recipients and administrators. As a result, states' TANF policies started to have their own distinguishing features together with some elements in common; however, those distinctive policy choices have not been given much attention in comparative studies. Rather, TANF outcomes such as enrollment and caseloads are more often highlighted to show that the number of TANF recipients declines over time. A recent

1

report by the Center on Budget and Policy Priorities (CBPP) says that the number of needy families receiving TANF benefits decreased dramatically from 68 families in 1996 to 26 families in 2013 for every 100 families below poverty level, implying that TANF may not work as it is supposed to work (Floyd et al, 2015). Under this circumstance, the "race to the bottom" argument—in which states competitively behave to avoid serving more needy people by reducing benefits and increasing stringency for enrollment—has gained prominence and confirmation since the welfare reform in 1996.

Scholars predicted that change from the categorical grants (i.e., matching grants) to block grants would exacerbate the race to the bottom phenomenon by allowing states to have more discretion in determining eligibility requirements and the level of benefits; states would provide less generous welfare benefits compared to neighboring states in order to avoid being magnets for needy people (Peterson, 1996; Schram and Soss, 1998). This argument seems convincing because national TANF caseloads indeed have been decreasing by more than 60 percent since 1996, but poverty rates have become even higher than those in 1996 (Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 2015). Moreover, according to the data released by the Urban Institute, it is apparent that states have moved towards adopting more stringent sanction policies since the welfare reform in 1996

Unlike the 1996 welfare reform, which was spotlighted and rigorously studied in its association with the occurrence of race to the bottom, the 2005 Deficit Reduction Act (DRA) has been empirically less studied though it generated significant changes in the ways states implemented TANF. In accordance with the passage of DRA and its aftermath that caused

tougher requirements states must meet, states adopted new laws and rules and took strategic actions to pursue goals of meeting the changed requirements. The major concern of states was tougher work requirements they must meet due to the changes in the way TANF work participation rates are calculated.

To cope with such changes, some states created solely state funded programs to assist people who are likely to fail to meet the work requirements with state only funds that are not related to TANF. Since TANF or MOE funds¹ are not involved, TANF time limit and work participation rules do not apply to those people served through solely state funded programs. Along with solely state funded programs, other states adopted worker supplement programs² to help working low-income families, mostly former TANF recipients, stay in employment or modified the program to extend the coverage to working low-income families regardless of whether they receive TANF funds. However, it is still unknown whether those programs implemented after the DRA were really effective in enhancing TANF performance due to the lack of empirical studies.

This study seeks to examine the impact of states' policy response to the DRA on the TANF performance, using the measure of work participation rates. Three policies are regarded as states' active policy choices in response to the DRA in the analysis: (1) solely state funded

¹ MOE stands for 'Maintenance of Effort', and MOE funds are also called as state TANF funds. States are required to spend 75 or 80 percent of their spending in 1994 for needy people in order to receive federal block grants, and this is referred to as state MOE requirement (Schott, 2012). States can use federal TANF block grants and/or state MOE funds (i.e., state TANF funds) to provide benefits to TANF recipients.

² Worker supplement program provides former TANF recipients with cash payments and/or transitional services such as childcare and transportation for a limited period to help them successfully make a transition from welfare to work.

programs, (2) worker supplement programs, and (3) sanction policies. Based on the idea that states' strategic policy response to the passage of DRA may be influenced by or related to the generosity of other welfare policy choices they made (e.g., General Assistance program, coverage for post welfare immigrants, state Earned Income Tax Credit, TANF time limit, and diversion program), states' generosity in various welfare programs are also taken into account.

1.2 Previous Studies on TANF

Since the national welfare reform in 1996, there have been primarily two distinct approaches in studying TANF which examine: (1) states' stringency in TANF after the welfare reform and (2) TANF performance outcomes. Researchers following the first approach have tended to focus on what determines TANF stringency across states, and states' stringency was measured differently according to their study's purpose. Their main purpose was to find out what factors are associated with states being more or less generous to the poor in TANF policies, and explain variation in TANF benefit levels, eligibility levels, or requirements. Scholars studied, in a block granted program with fewer federal mandates of coverage and benefit levels, what kind of choices states would make and if states would converge or diverge in this long standing intergovernmental policy area with more independence of policy choices given to the individual state policy makers.

Fellowes and Rowe (2004) investigated the impact of pressure from constituents (race, income bias, and public ideology), institutions (government ideology and democratic composition of legislature), resources and paternalism on three different dependent variables,

4

TANF eligibility, TANF flexibility, and benefit levels³. They confirmed findings of Soss et al (2002) that states with higher percentages of African-Americans are more likely to be strict in TANF policy. Their results also revealed that conservative state governments and lower democratic control in legislatures are more likely to restrict eligibility for potential and current TANF recipients and have less flexibility in administering TANF work requirements. Klarner et al (2007) also showed a similar test result with Soss et al (2002) and Fellowes and Rowe (2004) in that states with higher percentages of African-Americans are more likely to adopt the family cap policy⁴. They used three TANF policies to measure states' generosity in TANF: (1) monthly TANF benefits for a family size of four compared to states' costs of living, (2) time limits, and (3) family caps. And their findings suggest that states with higher interest group influence and conservative public opinion ⁵ are more likely to be strict by providing less cash benefits and adopting shorter time limits.

Others studied TANF performance after the welfare reform in 1996, looking at TANF outcomes such as enrollment rates and caseload trends in terms of whether the caseload decline is due to

³ Three dependent variables represent the level of state generosity in TANF. TANF eligibility indicates how states restrict eligibility of potential and current TANF recipients by adopting rules that limit their participation. Fellowes and Rowe used an eligibility index based on 28 components (questions), and states are coded as 1 if a rule is adopted. The higher value indicates states' more strict policy in TANF eligibility. TANF flexibility represents the degree of states' flexibility in administering TANF work requirements. It is measured by the index they created, which consists of 12 components (12 questions about whether states have rules). States are coded as 1 if they adopt a rule, and the higher value indicates more flexible policy in work requirements. Benefit variable is measured by dividing benefit for a family size of three (one parent and two children) in 1997 dollar value by costs of living in 1997, and higher number represent states' more generosity in cash benefits (Fellowes and Rowe, 2004).

⁴ Family cap policy is a state option as to whether states provide assistance for an additional child for families who are already receiving TANF benefits (Klarner et al, 2007).

⁵ Interest group influence is measured by the proportion of registered lobbyists whose interests are potentially related to welfare policy to the total registered lobbyists in a state. Public opinion conservatism is measured by subtracting conservative percent by liberal percent based on the Gerald Wright's ideology data (Klarner et al, 2007).

employment or sanctions across states (Acs and Loprest, 2007; Cancian et al, 2002; Ewalt and Jennings, 2004; Stuber and Kronebusch, 2004). These studies focused on what caused variation in TANF enrollment rates or caseload reduction, and assessed whether TANF was working as planned, reducing poverty and helping needy families.

Past research helped us better understand what state policy changes in TANF occurred after the 1996 welfare reform, the status of TANF implementation across states, and some of the TANF policy impacts. But previous studies have missed some important research questions that this study takes up. First, most studies focused primarily on the impact of the 1996 'welfare reform'. Looking back over the last two decades, there have been major policy changes in TANF other than ones initiated by the 1996 law reforms; the most significant one would be the passage of the Deficit Reduction Act of 2005. Very little recent literature has studied empirically the aftermath of DRA and its impacts on state TANF policies. Second, as demonstrated in the research question section above, scholars showed incomplete perspectives in examining TANF, neglecting other benefits states have provided to help more needy people whose benefits are likely to be terminated under the DRA due to changes in calculating work participation rates.

Lastly, a required performance measure, TANF work participation rate, has been rarely used as a dependent variable in previous studies. Past researchers focused on states' stringency and changes in TANF caseloads. As a result, they often used binary variables for states' stringency as their dependent variables or continuous dependent variables for changes in TANF caseloads (i.e., percentages of TANF cases decreased or increased). Due to the lack of sufficient empirical studies using TANF participation rates as dependent variables, it is unknown how each state's

policy decision affected TANF work participation rates after the enactment of DRA and what implications we can obtain for the better improvement in TANF performance.

Compared to the TANF caseload, which has been widely used as a dependent variable in previous TANF studies, work participation rate is a crucial and useful indicator especially in assessing the success of state programs in TANF. Some state programs this study discusses (e.g., worker supplement programs and sanctions) target work eligible recipients and are designed and implemented to encourage them to actively engage in work activities and stay employed long enough to get off welfare; however, "changes in TANF caseloads" as a dependent variable does not capture this element. Lower caseloads per capita only tell us about decreased demand in a state, not implying the successful implementation of state programs without additional information on to what extent caseload decline is attributed to recipients' voluntary exit due to employment. In addition, nearly half of all TANF recipient families are exempted from work requirements and thus are not used in the work participation calculation⁶. Therefore, using TANF work participation rate as a dependent variable seems more informative in assessing the impact of state policies that are closely related to recipients' working and exemption status.

1.3 Contribution of the Study

This research attempts to view the TANF program from a different angle. Allowing for the current situation where states have less flexibility in administering TANF under the DRA,

⁶ According to the Administration for Children and Families (ACF) report with respect to TANF recipient characteristics, work eligible families who are used in the calculation of work participation rates for all families take up approximately 53 percent of total TANF caseloads (families). The rest 47 percent is regarded as 'no work eligible families' and not included in the calculation (They are average monthly number of families).

this study focuses on states' active policy choices and their impact on the TANF performance. By 2017, it will be a decade since the 2005 Deficit Reduction Act took effect, and TANF is waiting for another reauthorization and update. Depending on the result of TANF reauthorization, states may face another round of changes in their TANF implementation requirements. Thus, it seems crucial now to assess the impact of states' policy choices under the DRA on TANF performance to see whether states' active policy choices to pursue seemingly conflicting goals (i.e., serving more needy people and meeting the tougher work requirements) are worth implementing and whether the policy options states have been given have led to successful outcomes. Which of the types of choices states have made—more stringent eligibility vs. more generous coverage has had the most positive impact on work participation of people who were eligible for TANF?

To summarize the contributions of this study, first it uses TANF work participation rate as a dependent variable and tests the effectiveness of states' strategic response to the DRA on the TANF work participation rate. The result will give salience to policies states proactively designed and implemented to cope with the passage of DRA and to a TANF performance measure that has been neglected in research studies. Second, this research will encompass a spectrum of other welfare policies states adopted in combination with TANF. Since welfare policies may be aligned with each other in terms of the level of generosity states maintain, there is a possibility that TANF and other welfare programs (e.g., diversion programs and coverage for qualified aliens who are ineligible for receiving TANF during their waiting period) are related. By controlling for states' generosity in other welfare programs, we will be able to obtain the direct impact of harsh sanctions on TANF performance regardless of states' generosity in other welfare policies.

Also, we can identify the impact of states' overall generosity in other welfare programs on TANF performance and see whether they affect TANF performance. Some policy makers in favor of sanctions assert that states' generosity is negatively associated with TANF performance; this study tests this assertion. Lastly, this study will provide practical implications for policy makers and administrators in terms of how state policy choices in combination with federal TANF requirements can improve TANF performance as well as assist more needy people. The findings of this research will be especially helpful for some states that are at risk of failing to meet the requirements or hesitate to adopt new policies due to the lack of empirical evidence that supports the implementation of worker supplement programs and solely state funded programs.

1.4 Organization of the Study

This research is organized in five chapters. Chapter 1 introduces descriptive information about TANF, why it is an interesting policy to study, and presents the research questions of this study. Chapter 1 also covers previous research on TANF, pointing out what they have missed in their studies, and the contributions this study will make. Chapter 2 starts with providing TANF background information, focusing on changes in TANF laws and administrative features that accompany such laws. Then, we cover an overview of federalism literatures and propose major hypotheses related to states' policy responses to the DRA. Chapter 3 presents the study's research design, the model this study will test, and explains the data collection process and the analytical methods used. Chapter 4 presents and discusses the empirical test results and assesses whether the proposed hypotheses are confirmed or not, while chapter 5 concludes the study by discussing the research's contributions, limitations, and avenues for future studies.

CHAPTER 2

LITERATURE REVIEW AND HYPOTHESES

2.1 Background Information about TANF

In this section, two major laws, the Personal Responsibility and Work Opportunity Act (PRWORA) in 1996, and the Deficit Reduction Act (DRA) of 2005, are briefly introduced to better understand the significant changes in TANF over the past two decades. Our study focuses on the Deficit Reduction Act of 2005, but since most features of PRWORA (e.g., time limits and work requirements) are still effective after the passage of DRA, it is helpful to understand what requirements both PRWORA and DRA mandated or allowed, and to understand the differences between PRWORA and DRA.

2.1.1 Personal Responsibility and Work Opportunity Act (PRWORA)

The Personal Responsibility and Work Opportunity Act (PRWORA) was welfare reform legislation enacted in 1996 and replaced Aid to Families with Dependent Children (AFDC) program with Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF). Under the PRWORA, the most significant change was the way federal money was given to the states, moving from categorical to block grants. The use of the more discretionary block grant approach changed federal funding and accompanying requirements states must meet and was a major element of TANF. A TANF block grant was different from a previous categorical grant (i.e., matching grant) under AFDC because it was based on states' previous contribution to welfare policy, such that the amount of federal funds allocated is subject to what states spent in AFDC in FY 1994. States were required to maintain a level of spending their own money on TANF and other related activities at 75% or 80% of what they had spent in FY1994; this is referred to as a Maintenanceof- effort (MOE) requirement (Falk, 2013)⁷.

Due to the adoption of TANF block grants (which also capped the amount of federal funds allocated to any state and to the overall TANF program rather than being open-ended as categorical grants are), states were able to have more discretion in areas such as the implementation of block grant funds, allocation⁸, and determination of the eligibility and benefit levels. ⁹ In response to increasing autonomy, states must take more responsibility in meeting federal requirements and are penalized financially if they fail to meet requirements. Under the changed financial structure, there are two distinctive elements that showed significant differences from the previous policy: (1) time limits and (2) work requirements.

The federal government sets the time limit for the use of TANF block grants up to 60 months, and states can design their own time limits for individual recipients (e.g., lifetime limits and periodical time limits) as long as these limits are less than the federal time limit. In line with a major goal of the welfare reform, which is to increase self-sufficiency of TANF recipients, the federal government requires recipients who are not exempted to participate in work activities within 24 months according to a given family type (Gallagher et al, 1998). Under the PRWORA, in each state, 50 % of all families and 90% of two-parent families should be involved in work

⁷ A 80% MOE requirement applies to states that fail to meet work participation requirements.
⁸ States can transfer some of TANF block grants to child care up to 30% (Child Care and Development Block Grant: CCDBG) and social services up to 10% (Social Service Block Grant: SSBG), and the total mount of transferred money should not exceed 30% of TANF block grants (Schott et al, 2015).
⁹ States exercise discretion in determining asset limits including vehicle exemption, income eligibility test, and eligibility for two parent families (Gallagher et al, 1998).

related activities for at least 30 hours and 35 hours per week respectively two years after they receive the TANF benefits (Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 2012).¹⁰

2.1.2 Deficit Reduction Act (DRA) of 2005

The Deficit Reduction Act (DRA) of 2005 was signed in 2006 and became effective in 2007. A major difference lies in its strengthened work requirements through various new terms: (1) changing the base year from 1995 to 2005 for caseload reduction credit, (2) applying work participation requirements to families with an adult who received benefits through separate state programs (SSP) funded by state MOE fund, (3) including families (i.e., families where benefits of parents were excluded due to sanctions or exhausted time limits) who were previously excluded in the calculation of work requirement, and (4) more narrowly defining countable work activities required for TANF recipients (Pavetti et al, 2009).

First, updating the base year to FY 2005 negatively affected states' work participation rates because the caseloads of a previous base year of 1995 recorded the highest caseloads, which enabled states to obtain high caseload reduction credits¹¹ that made it easy for them to meet the work requirements. Second, before the DRA was enacted, time limits and work requirements did not apply to clients served by separate state programs (SSP) because separate state programs were administered outside of TANF programs with state MOE funds. But DRA required states to include those families in the calculation of work participation rates. Third, some states maintaining relatively more generous sanction policies became disadvantaged

¹⁰ In FY 1997, 25% of all families were required to engage in work activities, and it was increased to 50% in FY2002 (Administration of Children and Families, 1996).

¹¹ Each year, states can reduce work participation rate by one percentage point for every percentage point they earn from the caseload reduction compared to caseloads in the base year.

because previously excluded families where only children received TANF benefits (i.e., child only cases) were included in the calculation of work participation after the passage of DRA.

Consequently, states responded to such changes by shifting from partial sanction policies (i.e., excluding only benefits of parents who are sanctioned or whose time limit is reached) to more stringent sanction policies, full family sanction, to increase work participation rates; otherwise, families where parents are sanctioned or reached lifetime limits for receiving TANF benefits will be included in the calculation of the work participation rate. Lastly, defining work activities (9 core and 3 non-core work activities) that can count towards required work hours not only limited states' discretion in administering work programs, but also increased the burdens of states by imposing more obligations of reporting the outcomes regularly. Overall, the Deficit Reduction Act of 2005 was viewed as more challenging in states' TANF administration and design of relevant programs. Table 2.1 shows a detailed chart of 12 work activities counting toward the required minimum hours of work per week enacted in the DRA.

Table 2.1: Core and Supplemental	Work Activities
----------------------------------	-----------------

Core activities	Unsubsidized employment
	Subsidized private sector employment
	Subsidized public sector employment
	Job search and readiness ^{12}
	Community service
	Work experience
	On-the-job training
	Vocational education training (limited to 12 months) ¹³

¹² According to the Congressional Research Service (CRS), job search and job readiness are counted as core activities up to 6 weeks in a fiscal year, but if a state meets criteria of either having a higher unemployment rate at 50% or more above the national average or being in economic need as described in TANF contingency funds, the limit increases to 12 weeks in a year.

¹³ Vocational education training is counted as a core activity with 12 months limit in a lifetime, but after 12 months, it is countable only when combined with other core activities at least 20 hours per week in a

Table 2.1- continued

Core activities	Caring for a child of a recipient in community service
Supplemental activities	Job skills training directly related to employment
(=Non-core activities)	Education directly related to employment
	(For those without a high school or equivalent degree)

Source: Congressional Research Service (CRS) report by Falk (2012) Notes: Hours from non-core work activities can count after recipients participate in core activities for certain hours per week depending on family type. For single-parent families, 20 hours per week from core activities is required to count hours engaged in non-core activities. For two-parent families, they should complete 30 hours per week from core activities in order to count hours from non-core activities. The required hours increase to 50 hours per week from core activities if two-parent families receive federal childcare.

2.2 TANF under Federalism

TANF and federalism are inseparable because federalism has shaped how states design and implement TANF. Federalism is often referred to as a governmental system where authorities are divided between national and subnational entities, but indeed, American federalism is more complex than it looks and can be better explained by various dimensions. Bowling and Pickerill (2013) describe the current state of American federalism as 'fragmented federalism' in light of intergovernmental relations, and it has been accelerated with states' increasing needs to develop their own policies even for federal programs.

There are two approaches in the theories of federalism in understanding the impact of devolution in welfare that would produce contradicting policy results (Lieberman and Shaw, 2000). Some researchers assert that federalism facilitates the race to the bottom phenomenon in states' welfare implementation based on the idea of 'competitive federalism'. Competitive federalism in welfare describes states' competitive behaviors that reduce the state's welfare

month (Lower-Basch, 2015). There exists a 30 percent cap in counting education activities toward core activities.

benefits in response to neighboring states' movements. This has been a dominant idea in welfare and empirically tested in the race to the bottom studies. Empirical findings with respect to the race to the bottom have not been consistent, showing mixed results. Another approach demonstrates that states are better at identifying and responding to local needs than the federal government, and instead of adopting an 'one size fits all' approach, states act as experimental laboratories, and will come up with more innovative policy ideas in the implementation of federal welfare programs.

This study does not test those two theories, but states' actions can be understood in this context. In TANF, states' actions have provided some confirmation for both outcomes predicted in welfare theories of federalism. It seems true that states have shifted toward adopting more harsh sanctions. The usual explanation is states' economic and competitive goals not to attract more needy people. This has been studied extensively, and there is supportive evidence in favor of welfare competition among states such that a state strategically decides the benefit level in response to neighboring states' determination (Bailey and Rom, 2004; Figlio et al, 1997; Saavedra, 2000; Smith, 1991). But some studies have found no evidence or conflicting evidence for the race to the bottom thesis (Allard and Danziger, 2000; Berry et al, 2003; Levine and Zimmerman, 1999; Schram et al, 1998; Shroder, 1995; Volden, 2002).

At the same time, states created new programs (e.g., solely state funded programs and worker supplement programs) to respond to tougher requirements imposed on states under the DRA and to serve needy people who are likely to be excluded from the TANF under the DRA. Since states came up with those programs as a response to federal mandates, states' actions may not be voluntary, rather involuntary to some degree. Consequently, the spectrum of policies states adopted was not diverse, rather the options converged to a few programs.

But this evolution of state policies can be interpreted in the context of 'laboratories of democracy federalism' because policies states designed and implemented to improve work participation show differences in details such as eligibility, structuring, and benefit levels¹⁴, which reflect states' different circumstances in finance, ideology and capabilities. In addition, the number of states implementing those programs has increased over time since 2007, and this suggests the possibility that those programs have been quite successful helping states meet the requirements and enhance performance since the enactment of DRA. However, due to the lack of empirical studies on these programs, the impact of those programs on TANF work performance is not known.

In order to account for both positive and negative aspects of state TANF policies under federalism, this paper treats solely state funded programs, worker supplement programs, and sanction policies as states' policy choices to respond to the DRA. The next section presents details of each state policy and introduces the dependent and independent variables, and major hypotheses that this research will test.

¹⁴ In solely state funded programs, the main target groups are two-parent families, but some states extend eligibility to families who need to take care of a disabled member or children under certain age (e.g., age 1), or families enrolled in postsecondary education. States' worker supplement programs have different details in their structure (i.e., assistance or non-assistance), funding source (i.e., TANF or state MOE funds), and the way they are provided (e.g., amount of cash payments and time limit/periods for payments and services).

2.3 TANF Work Participation Rate

2.3.1 TANF Work Participation Rate

TANF work participation rate is an official performance indicator used to measure states' performance in TANF and currently, states are mandatorily required to report work participation rates along with caseloads and enrollment rates (i.e., participation rates). TANF work participation rates are calculated by dividing the number of TANF recipients engaged in countable work activities by total work eligible individuals receiving TANF assistance. The federal government decides whether to impose financial sanctions on states that fail to meet the work requirement¹⁵. According to the work verification plan guide published by the Office of Family Assistance (OFA), a work-eligible individual is defined as "an adult (or minor child head-of-household) receiving assistance under TANF or a separate state program or a non-recipient parent living with a child receiving such assistance (usually a child-only case) unless the parent is: A minor parent and not the head-of-household or spouse of the head-of-household; an alien who is ineligible to receive assistance due to his or her immigration status; or at state option, on a case-by-case basis, a recipient of Supplemental Security Income (SSI) benefits" (III. Work-eligible individual section, para.2).

The TANF work participation rate, as a process indicator, has limitations in that it does not capture the fluidity of recipients' characteristics such as how former TANF recipients enter the job market, how long they retain the jobs, and whether their wages are adequate enough to get out of poverty and maintain a better life than when they received TANF benefits. It only reflects the number of work eligible TANF recipients engaged in countable work activities

¹⁵ The federal government imposes financial sanctions for states that fail to meet the work requirement by reducing the TANF block grants up to 21 percent and increasing MOE requirement from 75 to 80 percent (Falk, 2013).

during the given period. Despite its flaws, it needs to be studied for several reasons. Foremost, it is an official indicator 'currently used' by the federal government to measure the performance of states; no alternative indicator to measure self-sufficiency of TANF recipients is allowed to replace work participation rates. In addition, TANF work participation rate contains two dimensions-- changes in TANF caseloads for work eligible families, and the number of work eligible recipients engaged in countable work activities. We cannot isolate to what extent the two features separately contribute to increasing or decreasing participation rates, but by using it as a dependent variable, we can obtain a view of the comprehensive effects of policies states have implemented to cope with changes by the DRA on TANF recipients because some policies this paper deals with (e.g., worker supplement programs and sanction) affect not only the presence of TANF recipients on the roll but also their working status.

Lastly, the number of states failing to meet the required work rate has apparently increased since the enactment of DRA as shown in the table 2.2. Before FY 2007, only one or two states failed to meet the work requirements, and it looks like states did not have difficulties in meeting the requirements. But the situation turned around, and twelve states failed in FY 2007, indicating that it became harder for states to meet the requirements after the DRA became effective (Falk, 2016). Considering that the main purpose of DRA in TANF is to increase self-sufficiency of needy people by getting them more into work, TANF work participation rate corresponds to the program goal and is a good measure to assesse states' performance. Table 2.2 displays the number of states failing to meet the work participation standard before and after the DRA. Under this circumstance, it is worth examining the ways to improve TANF performance and recommending those alternatives to states at risk of failing to adopt such policies if it turns out to

be effective.

Table 2.2: Number of States Failing to Meet the Work Requirement for All-Families Before and After the DRA

	Pre-DRA						Post-DRA				
States	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007 ¹	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012
Alabama											
Alaska											Х
Arizona											
Arkansas											
California						Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Colorado											Х
Connecticut					Х						
Delaware											
Florida											
Georgia											
Hawaii											
Idaho											Х
Illinois											
Indiana				Х	Х	Х					
Iowa											
Kansas											
Kentucky						Х					
Louisiana											
Maine						Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Maryland											
Massachusetts	S										
Michigan						Х	Х		Х	Х	
Minnesota						Х					
Mississippi											
Missouri							Х	Х		Х	Х
Montana											
Nebraska											
Nevada		Х				Х					Х
New											
Hampshire											
New Jersey											
New Mexico						Х					
New York											
North											
Carolina											

Table 2.2 – continued

	Pre-DRA						Post-DRA				
States	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007 ¹	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012
North Dakota											
Ohio						Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
Oklahoma											
Oregon						Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Pennsylvania											
Rhode Island											Х
South											Х
Carolina											
South Dakota											
Tennessee											
Texas											
Utah											
Vermont						Х					Х
Virginia											Х
Washington											Х
West Virginia						Х	Х				
Wisconsin											Х
Wyoming											
Source: Congre	essional	l Resea	rch Ser	rvice (O	CRS) re	eport by	Falk (2	2016)			
Notes [.]				,	-		,	· · ·			

¹ DRA was effective in FY 2007.

2.4 States' Response to Deficit Reduction Act (DRA)

It is apparent that states implemented strategies by creating or extending programs to cope with changes from the Deficit Reduction Act; however, they were not placed at the center of research because there are no empirical studies, to my knowledge, with respect to such strategies and their impact on TANF. Policies states implemented in response to the passage of DRA seemed to yield conflicting consequences. The first two policies this paper includes are the creation of solely state funded programs and implementation of worker supplement programs to meet tougher work requirements. The difference between the two programs is their target groups; the major target group of solely state funded programs is non-disabled two-parent families whose

benefits are most likely to be terminated under the new TANF requirements, while the primary target group of worker supplement programs is working low-income families, mostly former TANF recipients. The common aspect of the two programs is that they produce quite similar policy consequences, extending the coverage to more needy people whose TANF benefits might be terminated due to the 2005 DRA, or whose needs might not be taken into account, if these programs were not implemented.

On the other hand, harsher sanction policies tend to yield the opposite consequences of reducing those receiving benefits. Looking at the number of states that have adopted harsher sanctions, it is apparent that states have moved toward more severe sanction policies (e.g., going from gradual full family sanction to immediate full family sanction), and these all reduce the benefits of recipients or the number of recipients eligible to receive benefits. One interesting aspect of the three policies mentioned above is that those seemingly contradictory policies in terms of coverage/benefits of TANF recipients indeed achieve the same goal to enhance the TANF performance. Sanction policies can increase work participation rates by removing sanctioned recipients from the TANF. On the other hand, solely state funded programs and worker supplement programs complement each other in increasing work participation rates by extending the coverage for needy people. Details about how these two programs can work together are suggested in the following sections, but briefly speaking, when both programs are implemented, states can perform better than states with only one of them without increasing overall TANF caseloads in the work participation calculation. Including these three policies in the analysis will reveal the extent of contributions each policy makes to the TANF work participation.

2.4.1 Solely State Funded (SSF) Program

Due to the enactment of the Deficit Reduction Act (DRA) of 2005, families assisted through state MOE (i.e., separate state program) funds are included in the calculation of TANF work participation rate. States took actions in response to such changes, and one of them was to create solely state funded (SSF) programs funded entirely by state general funds. Some argue that states created solely state funded programs to increase TANF work participation rates or not to be hurt by failing to meet the requirements (i.e., 50% for all families and 90% for two-parent families receiving assistance by TANF or MOE funds); however it is more than just a tactic. As of 2013, 26 states (excluding the District of Columbia) have implemented solely state funded programs, and the most common recipients served in this program are two-parent families including work eligible individuals who are deemed unlikely to meet TANF work requirements and thus likely to be excluded. In general, target groups include two parent families, families whose heads are SSI or SSDI applicants, families with employment barriers determined by state policy, and families whose parent is in education or trainings (e.g., colleges or post-secondary education); and these categories are not mutually exclusive (Schott and Parrott, 2009).

The number of states implementing solely state funded (SSF) programs has increased since FY 2007. Appendix B shows the states that have implemented SSF programs since FY 2007 and their implementation dates. The effectiveness of the program is not yet empirically tested, but it is reported that it may have a positive effect on TANF work participation rates (Pavetti et al, 2008; Schott and Parrott, 2009). In 26 states adopting SSF programs, certain groups of people who were previously supported by TANF are now assisted through the SSF programs. Since those people served by state only funds that do not count toward state MOE are excluded in the TANF roll, the denominator of TANF work participation rate will decrease,

which will increase TANF work participation rates. Based on this, this paper argues that states with SSF programs will achieve higher TANF work participation rates than those without SSF programs.

Hypothesis 1: States implementing solely state funded programs are more likely to have higher TANF work participation rates than states without solely state funded programs.

2.4.2 Worker Supplement Program (WSP)

The worker supplement program serves low-income working families who received TANF but become ineligible due to earnings from work and provides them with transitional income (i.e., monthly cash) and non-income (i.e., non-cash) assistance for a limited time duration. The purpose of worker supplement programs is to give incentives to TANF leavers so that they can stay employed and focus on jobs for better opportunities, which will increase their self-sufficiency. Initially, it was designed for previous TANF recipients, but currently, states utilize worker supplement programs more widely to reach broader groups of people who may not have been TANF recipients. Currently, not only TANF leavers but also low income working families regardless of TANF receipt are receiving benefits from worker supplement programs. For instance, in Vermont, working families leaving solely state funded programs also receive benefits from worker supplement programs, and working families receiving food stamps are qualified for a worker supplement program in Massachusetts (Schott, 2008).

The number of states adopting worker supplement programs has been increasing since the passage of the 2005 Deficit Reduction Act (DRA). A GAO Report published in 2010 May

reported that 23 states implemented worker supplement programs, and 18 among 23 states had implemented WSPs since 2006. In general, states use TANF funds for the worker supplement programs because states can include those working families funded by TANF funds in the calculation of their work participation rates. Keeping working families in the calculation can positively affect work participation rates states are required to achieve as long as worker supplement program benefits by TANF or MOE funds fit into the definition of 'assistance'¹⁶ by TANF rules (Schott, 2008).

In terms of structuring, there are ways to manage this program more favorably to recipients. For instance, some states (e.g., Oregon, Utah, Virginia, and Washington) use only MOE funds in providing benefits from worker supplement programs not to trigger federal time limits that run automatically with federal TANF funds (Schott, 2008). Those families funded only by state MOE funds are included in the calculation of TANF work participation rates, but their federal lifetime limit does not apply while receiving benefits. Also, states can structure worker supplement program as non-assistance, providing employed families who left TANF with child care and transportation services. Some states (e.g., Connecticut, Georgia, Hawaii, Kentucky, Louisiana, Mississippi, New Jersey, New York, Ohio, West Virginia) also provide non-assistance in the form of transitional work support payment, job retention bonus or incentives according to our data collected from various sources including state policy manuals, administrative codes, and state plans¹⁷. By structuring benefits of WSPs as non-assistance, time

¹⁶ According to the TANF final rule (1999), assistance is defined as "cash, payments, vouchers, and other forms of benefits designated to meet a family's ongoing basic needs (i.e. for food, clothing, shelter, utilities, household goods, personal care items, and general incidental expanses)."

¹⁷ According to the state TANF plan, Georgia suspended its Work Support Program (structured as nonassistance) effective July 1, 2011, and Hawaii terminated its exit and job retention bonus programs

limit and child support requirements are not applied to low-income working families receiving benefits from worker supplement programs. In this paper, states that structure worker supplement programs as 'assistance' using TANF or MOE funds are only considered in the analysis because the focus of the paper is to identify the impact of a worker supplement program on the work participation, and recipients receiving non-assistance from WSPs are not included in the calculation. Appendix C shows states that have implemented worker supplement programs where benefits are structured as assistance.

Worker supplement programs do not always work to increase required state work participation rates. In fact, a worker supplement program has an advantage in keeping working families in the caseloads, but it also can increase total TANF caseloads, which will adversely affect caseload reduction credits states can earn (Schott, 2008). So, it is unknown whether a worker supplement program itself will positively or negatively affect work participation rates. Fortunately, states are allowed to adjust caseloads when calculating caseload reduction credits if changes in caseloads are due to policy changes (e.g., eligibility expansion or reduction) under the federal TANF regulations. Thus, caseload increases due to worker supplement programs can be offset by the caseload decreases that resulted from states passing their own solely state funded programs (Schott, 2008). Therefore, states implementing both worker supplement programs and solely state funded programs can expand target groups and will not be fiscally penalized due to the adjustment resulting from SSF programs that offset an increase in caseloads by implementing worker supplement programs. In sum, worker supplement programs can be utilized in a way to increase TANF work participation rates, especially when combined with solely state funded programs.

effective December 31, 2011 due to fiscal difficulties. Louisiana discontinued its Post FITAP beginning December 2011 due to the lack of funding. See the Appendix D.

Hypothesis 2: States implementing both worker supplement programs and solely state funded programs are more likely to achieve higher TANF work participation rates than states without these programs.

2.4.3 TANF Sanction Policy

Sanctions have been one of the policy tools to enhance the efficacy and effectiveness of programs. There is no clear cut rationale for what is the optimal level of sanctions that facilitates program implementation and maximizes effectiveness, but sanctions have played an essential role in policy implementation. Since welfare recipients are not actually paying for services and are served through tax dollars paid mostly by non-recipients, recipients are highly likely to rely on those cash or non-cash assistance were it not for any restrictions. They may have no incentives to look for jobs or to make efforts to maintain them unless it pays a lot more than the benefits they receive.

In TANF, there are two 'mandated' sanctions for noncompliance with the following: (1) work activities requirement and (2) child support enforcement cooperation requirement (GAO, 2000). States may reduce or terminate benefits if families (units) fail to comply with work requirements or do not cooperate in child support enforcement (e.g., establishing paternity or support orders)¹⁸. Here, our major focus is on the mandatory sanctions for noncompliance with work requirements because it is the major reason for the benefit reduction as a result of sanctions. When looking at reasons for benefit reduction among TANF active cases, noncompliance with work requirements is 4.3 percent, the second highest after recoupment reason (7.2%), while

¹⁸ In case of child support related sanction, states may reduce benefits by no less than 25% or deny providing assistance (GAO, 2000).
noncooperation with child support enforcement takes up only 0.7 percent of units having reduced benefits (Office of Family Assistance, 2012).

In order to deter recipients from solely relying on assistance and to increase a sense of responsibility and self-sufficiency, TANF recipients are required to engage in work activities for minimum hours per week, depending on family sizes. If they fail to meet the requirements, they are sanctioned in a way that their needs are excluded in the program. Each state has different details in the intensity, duration, and coverage of sanction, but under the categories of full family sanction and partial sanction¹⁹, the variation is not really wide. Two dimensions of sanction policy are chosen to measure states' sanction severity: (1) coverage and (2) restrictions on SNAP. These two aspects were chosen because they represent major features of sanctions that distinguish states from each other and are used in other studies of states' sanction policies. Other dimensions of sanctions show too large or too small variations across states, which prevents us from adequately categorizing states. Our expectation is that severe sanctions (i.e., full family sanction and sanctions that restrict benefits of other welfare program, SNAP) will eliminate more recipients from the TANF and thus increase the work participation rate.

2.4.3.1 Four types of TANF sanction. There are four types of sanctions that states can employ: (1) partial sanction, (2) gradual full family sanction, (3) immediate full family sanction, and (4) pay for performance (Pavetti et al, 2003). Partial sanction is to exclude a portion of cash assistance for a noncompliant individual, but families still can receive some cash assistance. Immediate and gradual full family sanctions are similar in that entire families lose their benefits

¹⁹ Partial sanction means that only needs of individuals (adults) who violated the work requirement are excluded in the TANF benefits, and children still receive TANF assistance.

for noncompliance in the end. The difference is an immediate full family sanction eliminates the entire benefits for households right after the noncompliance is identified, while a gradual full family sanction first imposes a benefit reduction for the first or subsequent non-compliances, but if multiple cases of noncompliance are detected, families lose the entire benefits. Under a pay for performance sanction, the sanction is imposed subject to the number of hours individuals fail to engage in work activities, so it can become a partial or full family sanction depending on how many hours individuals fail to participate in required work activities²⁰. Currently, there is only one state, Wisconsin, adopting a pay for performance type of sanction.

According to the Welfare Rules data book published by the Urban Institute, as of 2013, 47 states have implemented 'full family sanction' while only 3 states (California, Missouri, and New York) are employing partial sanctions for noncompliance with work requirements for single parent households (District of Columbia is adopting partial sanction and is excluded). States' policies on family sanctions have significantly changed compared to the sanction policies in 1996. Table 2.3 shows each state's sanction policy in FY 1996 and FY 2007. The primary reason a more severe sanction (i.e., full family sanction) is utilized in TANF is because it has direct and indirect effects on work participation rates; sanctions can encourage non-working participants to get engaged in work activities, which increases the numerator of work participation calculation. Severe sanctions also eliminate non-compliant families from the TANF caseload, which decreases the denominator of the work participation calculation (Kauff et al, 2007).

²⁰ According to the Welfare Rules Database of 2013, TANF recipients lose their benefits by the amount of \$5 multiplied by work hours they fail to comply with.

State	FY 1996	FY 2007
Alabama	Partial sanction	Gradual full family sanction
Alaska	Partial sanction	Gradual full family sanction
Arizona	Partial sanction	Gradual full family sanction
Arkansas	Partial sanction	Gradual full family sanction
California	Partial sanction	Partial sanction ¹
Colorado	Partial sanction	Gradual full family sanction
Connecticut	Immediate full family sanction	Gradual full family sanction
Delaware	Gradual family sanction	Immediate full family sanction
Florida	Partial sanction	Immediate full family sanction
Georgia	Partial sanction	Gradual full family sanction
Hawaii	Partial sanction	Immediate full family sanction
Idaho	Partial sanction	Immediate full family sanction
Illinois	Partial sanction	Gradual full family sanction
Indiana	Partial sanction	Gradual full family sanction
Iowa	Gradual family sanction	Immediate full family sanction
Kansas	Partial sanction	Immediate full family sanction
Kentucky	Partial sanction	Gradual full family sanction
Louisiana	Partial sanction	Immediate full family sanction
Maine	Partial sanction	Partial sanction
Maryland	Partial sanction	Immediate full family sanction
Massachusetts	Gradual family sanction	Gradual full family sanction
Michigan	Gradual family sanction	Immediate full family sanction
Minnesota	Partial sanction	Gradual full family sanction
Mississippi	Partial sanction	Immediate full family sanction
Missouri	Partial sanction	Partial sanction ²
Montana	Partial sanction	Gradual full family sanction
Nebraska	Partial sanction	Immediate full family sanction
Nevada	Partial sanction	Immediate full family sanction
New	Partial sanction	Gradual full family sanction
Hampshire		2
New Jersey	Partial sanction	Gradual full family sanction
New Mexico	Partial sanction	Gradual full family sanction
New York	Partial sanction	Partial Sanction
North Carolina	Partial sanction	Immediate full family sanction
North Dakota	Partial sanction	Gradual full family sanction
Ohio	Gradual family sanction	Immediate full family sanction
Oklahoma	Partial sanction	Immediate full family sanction
Oregon	Gradual family sanction	Gradual full family sanction
Pennsylvania	Partial sanction	Gradual full family sanction
Rhode Island	Partial sanction	Gradual full family sanction
South Carolina	Partial sanction	Immediate full family sanction
South Dakota	Partial sanction	Gradual full family sanction

Table 2.3: Sanction Policies Adopted by States for Noncompliance with TANF Work Requirements for Single Parent Households

State	FY 1996	FY 2007
Tennessee	Partial sanction	Immediate full family sanction
Texas	Partial sanction	Immediate full family sanction
Utah	Gradual family sanction	Gradual full family sanction
Vermont	Partial sanction	Partial Sanction
Virginia	Gradual family sanction	Immediate full family sanction
Washington	Partial sanction	Gradual full family sanction
West Virginia	Partial sanction	Gradual full family sanction
Wisconsin ³	Pay for Performance	Pay for Performance
Wyoming	Partial sanction	Immediate full family sanction
Source: Welfare Ru	ules Databook: State TANF Pol	licies of July 2013

Table 2.3 – continued

Notes:

¹ In California, benefits for individuals who violate the work requirement are excluded until compliance.

² Missouri imposes a 25 % reduction in benefits for the violation of work requirements until compliance for 2 weeks for the first and subsequent violations.

³ Wisconsin adopts pay for performance type of sanction, and it can take the form of partial or full family sanction depending on whether a family is not compliant partial or full hours of work required.

Also, severe sanctions play a symbolic role distracting potential recipients' access to TANF or making current recipients voluntarily close their cases because they may be overwhelmed and intimidated by the information about noncompliance and accompanying sanctions (Kauff et al, 2007). It is generally known that states began to adopt more punitive sanction policies since the welfare reform, and the sanctions tended to become more severe under the second order devolution that was allowed after the welfare reform in 1996 (Kim and Folding, 2010).

2.4.3.2 Sanction coverage. As explained in section 2.4.3.1, the four sanction types can be categorized into two in terms of its coverage, partial or full family sanction. Unfortunately, it is unclear to what extent severe sanctions induce more work activities of current recipients. But, past studies on sanctions and their impact on the caseload reduction shed some light on how sanction severity can contribute to increasing the TANF work participation rate through caseload reduction. Previous researchers studied factors affecting changes in TANF (or AFDC) caseloads

and found that severe sanctions in terms of coverage reduced TANF caseloads (Danielson and Klerman, 2008; Mead, 2003; Rector and Youssef, 1999). Mead (2003) conducted two panel analyses over the periods of 1989-1994 and 1994-1998 to examine what factors were impacting the changes in TANF caseloads, focusing on variation across states, not across time periods. During the period of 1994-1998, TANF caseloads were reduced, and the severity of sanctions turned out to be quite strong and significant indicators for reduction in caseloads over 1994 to 1998^{21} .

Based on this finding, the results show that sanction severity is likely to increase TANF work participation rates through caseload reduction. However, there is a possibility that an increase in TANF work participation rates through caseload reduction can be offset by a decline in work activities of current recipients who may be discouraged by harsh sanctions. It is empirically unknown to what extent severe sanctions encourage or discourage work activities of recipients or where is the inflection point at which a sanction maximizes its effect. Leaving it unanswered, our assumption may not be precise. But considering that there is no evidence that severe sanctions significantly discourage working recipients, making them being unable to maintain their jobs, it seems reasonable to presume that states adopting stringent sanctions (i.e., adopting full family sanctions rather than partial sanctions) are more likely to have higher TANF work participation rates through the elimination of sanctioned people.

Hypothesis 3(a): States with full family sanctions are more likely to have higher TANF work participation rates than states with partial sanctions.

²¹ Mead (2003) used two variables, gradual (delayed) full family sanction and immediate full family sanction in the analysis to capture states with severe sanctions, and both variables significantly affected the reduction in TANF caseloads over 1994-1998.

2.4.3.3 Sanction restriction on Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP). Sanctions imposed on non-exempt recipients for their failure to comply with TANF work requirements can affect sanctioned families' benefits from other welfare programs. Some states impose selective penalties on SNAP (i.e., Food Stamp) subject to their discretion if TANF recipients fail to comply with work requirements; however, there are legal boundaries as to what extent states impose sanctions. According to the federal law, 7 U.S.C. 2015(d), "a state must remove an individual from Food Stamp Program eligibility for at least 1 month for the first violation, 3 months for second, and 6 months for third violation, except for exempt individuals, including those responsible for children under 6", and states also can take more strict actions (e.g., extending sanction duration) for the third or subsequent violations of work requirements (GAO, 2000, p.10)²².

Since noncompliant families do not receive TANF benefits during the sanction period, their incomes are counted lower than before, and it can be used as a ground for higher SNAP (i.e., food stamp) benefits. In order to prevent this, the federal law ensures that families should not receive an increase in SNAP benefits due to the TANF sanction that reduces income level, and it depends on states whether they will reduce Food Stamp allotment during the TANF sanction period, but no more than 25% (GAO, 2000).

States can determine whether they will only exclude benefits of the adult individual or the whole family from SNAP and set longer sanction periods for noncompliant individuals than the federal minimum for each violation. According to the data collected from each state's policy

²² According to 7 CFR § 273.11 (k) of the Food and Nutrition Act of 2008, states may disqualify a member of a household who fails to meet the requirements of other means-tested assistance programs including TANF from SNAP, which is referred to as 'comparative disqualification'.

manuals, administrative rules, and state plan, there are seventeen states that impose longer disqualification period or/and exclude entire families from SANP for the failure to comply with TANF work requirements as of FY 2013²³. Appendix E shows details of states employing more severe SNAP disqualification than the minimum requirements. States' sanction policies that restrict TANF recipients from receiving SNAP benefits more than the minimum required by federal law are deemed more severe, and with the same logic applied to the hypothesis (a), severe sanctions are expected to eliminate recipients from the TANF roll.

Hypothesis 3(b): States in which non-compliance with TANF work requirements restricts receiving SNAP benefits (more than the minimum federal restrictions) are more likely to have higher TANF work participation rates.

2.5 States' Stance on Welfare

In examining states' policy response to the DRA, it seems necessary to consider states' overall stance on welfare because it is highly likely that TANF policy and other welfare policies might be aligned in terms of generosity. It is often the case that states maintain consistent or similar positions in the same policy domain, and this is because states' policy decision reflects constituents' demands and preferences that are shaped by factors such as long-lasting perceptions, ideology, and prior experiences that do not change easily. In this context, this paper also examines other welfare policies and states' stance on those to examine the relationship between states' stances on welfare and TANF work participation. For state's generosity, five welfare

²³ Even though states treat non-compliant individuals with TANF work requirements as though they fail to comply with SNAP work requirements by imposing disqualification periods, they are not treated as employing harsh sanctions if they impose only the federal minimum disqualification period or if the penalties are not severe comparable to the federal requirements.

programs including states' TANF lifetime limit will be considered: (1) General Assistance program, (2) Coverage for qualified aliens who came to the U.S. after the welfare reform, (3) State Earned Income Tax Credit, (4) TANF time limits, and (5) Diversion program. By considering states' overall generosity in welfare, we would be able to obtain a more accurate relationship between states' policy choices under the DRA and TANF work participation rates. Taking into account states' stances on welfare will allow us to find out whether states' active policy choices increase or decrease TANF work participation, and if there exists consistency in the test such that states' generous stances on welfare leads to the similar outcomes as the impact of sanction policy on TANF work participation.

2.5.1 General Assistance (GA) Program

General Assistance (GA) programs target people who are ineligible for federal programs such as TANF and Supplemental Security Income (SSI), providing cash or non-cash assistance (Gallagher, 1999)²⁴. Since the late 1980s, states have shrunk GA programs (i.e., cutting back funding, restricting eligibility, and reducing benefits), and some states even eliminated GA programs. Between 1989 and 1998, 12 states²⁵ shrank GA programs by eliminating abled-bodied adults without dependent children' (ABAWDs), and 3 states (Idaho, Montana, and Wisconsin) among those 12 states terminated GA programs even for poor families with children (Gallagher,

²⁴ GA target groups include disabled and unemployable individuals, and some states even cover 'ablebodied adults without dependent children' (ABAWDs). The Disabled here is defined as individuals who do not receive SSI benefits due to technical issues despite their disabilities. Unemployable individuals are people who cannot work due to their age (65 and above), the care for a disabled family member or a child member at home, or conditions such as substance abuse.

²⁵ The 12 states are as follows: Connecticut, Idaho, Illinois, Maryland, Massachusetts, Michigan, Minnesota, Montana, Ohio, Pennsylvania, Virginia and Wisconsin.

1999). As of 2011, 29 states²⁶ and the District of Columbia offer GA programs to poor childless individuals who are categorized as disabled, but not disabled enough to receive SSI and not elderly, and 12 states²⁷ of those 29 states provide assistance to 'employable individuals' (i.e., poor childless individuals without disability) (Schott and Cho, 2011).

Unlike TANF, GA funding comes entirely from state and/or county (local) budget revenue, subject to whether the GA guidelines are uniform across the state or varies by counties. Thus, GA, a program with no federal monies involved, to some extent, can be seen as reflective of states' willingness to provide more generous assistance to poor individuals. Based on the funding sources of the state GA programs, we can infer the impact of states' implementation of GA programs on TANF work participation rates. Considering that no federal money is involved in GA programs, it is likely that states experiencing fiscal difficulties or putting less emphasis on welfare would not provide GA programs. In either case, those states would be more dependent on federal grants in administering TANF and more concerned about meeting the work requirements in return for receiving federal funds. In this regard, it is predicted that states providing General Assistance (GA) programs will be under less pressure for meeting the requirements and thus have a relatively lower TANF participation rate.

Hypothesis 4: States providing General Assistance (GA) programs are more likely to have lower TANF work participation rates than states without GA programs.

²⁶ The 29 states are as follows: Alaska, California, Colorado, Connecticut, Delaware, Hawaii, Illinois, Indiana, Iowa, Kansas, Maine, Maryland, Massachusetts, Michigan, Minnesota, Nebraska, Nevada, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New Mexico, New York, Ohio, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, South Dakota, Utah, Vermont, Virginia, and Washington.

²⁷ The 12 states are as follows: Alaska, California, Indiana, Iowa, Maine, Nebraska, Nevada, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New York, South Dakota, and Virginia.

2.5.2 Coverage for Post-Welfare Immigrants

The welfare reform in 1996 restricted the eligibility of qualified immigrants²⁸ who came to the U.S after August 22, 1996, and the participation among immigrants declined after the enactment of welfare reform in 1996 (Haider et al, 2004)²⁹. One determinant of declining participation among immigrants is to impose a waiting period for immigrants who arrived in the U.S. after 1996. TANF coverage for those people is not guaranteed for their first 5-year periods. In order to receive TANF benefits, they should apply after a 5-year waiting period, and their eligibility will be examined. They may receive TANF benefits according to eligibility rules established. States have full discretion in deciding whether they will cover those qualified immigrants coming to the U.S. after 1996 during that waiting period through the state-only funded programs that do not count toward TANF MOE requirements. According to the PEW charitable trusts, as of 2014, 23 states³⁰ out of 50 serve qualified immigrants who are ineligible for TANF due to the 5-year waiting period through solely state funds.

Since programs to serve those qualified immigrants are funded only by state money, the same logic related to the GA program hypothesis can be applied here. States that can afford to serve qualified immigrants within the 5-year period may be less concerned about meeting the federal requirement than states that heavily rely on federal money. In addition, there is a high

²⁸ Qualified immigrants are defined as having permanent residency, immigrating to the U.S. for the humanitarian purposes (e.g., refugees and asylum), persons paroled by the Department of Homeland Security for at least one year, battered immigrants spouses, children, or their parents and/or children, entrants from Cuba and Haiti, and victims of trafficking (Broder and Blazer, 2011).

²⁹ Haider et al (2004) found that immigrants' participation in AFDC/TANF, SSI, and Food Stamps declined faster than natives' after the welfare reform, which indicates the stronger impact of welfare reform on immigrants' participation decline in welfare programs. They examined two periods, before (1993-1995) and after (1997-2001) the welfare reform.

³⁰ Those 23 states are Arizona, California, Connecticut, Delaware, Georgia, Hawaii, Illinois, Iowa, Maine, Maryland, Minnesota, Nevada, New Jersey, New Mexico, New York, Oregon, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, Utah, Vermont, Washington, Wisconsin, Wyoming.

possibility that those qualified immigrants assisted through state-only funds are likely to be a huge burden for states after their waiting periods end. This is because immigrants may consider living in states providing more benefits than ones with fewer benefits in their location decisions (Borjas, 1999) and tend to have more barriers, such as limited job networks, lower skills, lower job quality, and lower education level, for employment than native-born Americans, including language barriers (Douglas-Hall and Koball, 2004; Hall et al, 2010). Previous studies (Albert and King, 2011; Borjas and Hilton, 1996; Tumlin and Zimmermann, 2003) also demonstrate that immigrants (or non citizens) tend to leave welfare, including TANF, more slowly than citizens. Tumlin and Zimmermann's study (2003) concluded that the limited English proficiency made it harder for TANF immigrant recipients to be employed along with other barriers.

Solely state-funded programs designed for qualified immigrants with the 5-year waiting period would not have an immediate impact on the TANF work participation rate, but it seems very likely that those states may attract more new immigrants who would be potential TANF clients after 5 years. Considering the higher likelihood of immigrants having more employment barriers, it is highly likely that having more qualified immigrants with the 5-year waiting period will decrease states' work participation rates unless a significant number of immigrants receiving benefits from TANF after their waiting periods end engage in work activities.

Hypothesis 5: States serving qualified aliens who came to the U.S. after the welfare reform are likely to have lower TANF work participation rates than states that do not cover those people.

2.5.3 State Earned Income Tax Credit (EITC)

EITC³¹ is a federal program to refund tax credits to low-income working families with children, driven by an initiative to reduce poverty and to increase self-sufficiency of welfare recipients. Rather than creating a whole new different system, states used existing federal EITC and set their refunds as a portion of the federal EITC³². According to the Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, as of 2014, 26 states³³ and the District of Columbia have state EITC programs with varying percentages of federal credit. State EITC programs are mostly funded by state general funds. States that do not have state income taxes can also enact state EITC. For example, Washington³⁴ does not impose a state income tax, but passed the legislation for state EITC program in 2008 though it is not yet implemented (Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 2016).

In its association with TANF work participation, it is predicted that a state EITC may have a positive impact on TANF work participation. First, states providing EITC benefits do not necessarily attract more needy people who heavily rely on state welfare, considering that state EITC is only given to 'working' families who have earned income but whose income level is still

³¹ EITC was first introduced in 1975 and modified to be more effective by increasing credits and expanding target groups in the 1990s (Noonan et al, 2007). In addition to the federal EITC, states started to implement their own EITC programs in the early 1990s. The major program benefit is that the refunds from EITC are not counted as income for federal welfare programs such as TANF, SSI, SNAP, and Medicaid.

³² There are two ways for states to employ state EITC programs: (1) refundable credit and (2) nonrefundable credit. Most states offer refundable credits to low-income working families such that they receive full amount of tax credits regardless of their liability for state income tax. On the other hand, there are four states (Delaware, Maine, Ohio, and Virginia) providing 'nonrefundable credits' to low-income working families. Nonrefundable credits mean that families can receive refunds to the extent that their claimed credits do not exceed state income tax liability (Levitis and Koulish, 2008).

³³ States (excluding District of Columbia) with EITC are as follows: Colorado, Connecticut, Delaware, Illinois, Indiana, Iowa, Kansas, Louisiana, Maine, Maryland, Massachusetts, Michigan, Minnesota, Nebraska, New Jersey, New Mexico, New York, North Carolina, Ohio, Oklahoma, Oregon, Rhode Island, Vermont, Virginia, Washington (not yet implemented), and Wisconsin.

³⁴ Washington was scheduled to refund 10% of federal EITC or \$50 (whichever greater) to working lowcome families in 2012 (Williams et al, 2010), but has not yet implemented the state EITC.

low. For another, the additional income provided by a state EITC helps low-income working families stay in their employment. This is because an additional income source allows low-income working families to work more hours and to accumulate more work experience, which provides better opportunities for higher pay and better positions (Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 2015).

Studies have suggested that EITC has a positive impact on employment, especially for single females or single minority females with children (Chetty et al, 2012; Eissa and Liebman, 1996; Grogger, 2003; Hotz and Scholz, 2003; Meyer and Rosenbaum, 2000, 2001; Noonan et al, 2007). Grogger (2003) found evidence that EITC not only decreased welfare use in TANF, but also increased employment and earnings of female-headed households in the period 1978-1999. Noonan et al (2007) also examined the impact of EITC on changes in employment of black and white single mothers aged 18-54 in metropolitan areas from 1991 to 2003 and found that EITC had a positive impact on employment of single mothers, increasing black single mothers' employment more than white counterparts.

Previous studies have mostly focused on only federal EITC; the combined effect of both federal and state EITCs on the working poor has received less attention (Hardy et al, 2015). Thus, few studies exist to support the positive impact of state EITC on the employment of low income working families. Neumark and Wascher (2007) provided a confirming finding that state EITC had a strong, positive impact on female employment and wages/earnings regardless of race, and the effect was stronger for Black or Hispanic females aged 20-24³⁵. Based on those findings that

³⁵ They presented disaggregate results by race; non-black, non-Hispanic vs Black or Hispanic females.

states' EITC programs provide poor working families with additional income sources that help them maintain their employment, it is expected that states implementing state EITCs would have more 'working' families in their TANF roll, which leads to higher work participation rates.

Hypothesis 6: States implementing state EITC are more likely to have higher TANF work participation rates than states without state EITC programs.

2.5.4 TANF Time Limit Policy

State time limits are one of the policy choices states have adopted to restrict recipients' benefits along with sanction policy. Given that time limits have been regarded as one of the critical factors influencing welfare use in past studies, this study includes state time limits as an independent variable and seeks to find out its impact on TANF work participation rates.

Since the passage of welfare reform in 1996, TANF benefits are provided in a timelimited manner such that recipients cannot receive benefits for more than 60 months in their lifetime by federal grants, unless they have good cause for extension or exemption. In addition to the federal time limit of 60 months, states have designed and implemented their own time limit policies, 'periodic limits' and 'benefit waiting periods'³⁶, and state policies can replace or be added to the federal lifetime time limits. Time limit policies vary across states, and the range of policies is shown in Table 2.4.

³⁶ Periodic limits mean recipients (families) can receive benefits for certain months out of a given period (e.g., families can receive benefits for 12 months in 36-month period), and under benefit waiting periods, families who received benefits for particular months (e.g., 12 months) become ineligible for a period of months (e.g., 24 months) to receive benefits again (Huber et al, 2014).

	State	Other		State	Other
State	Lifetime	State	State	Lifetime	State
	Time Limit	Time Limit		Time Limit	Time Limit
Alabama	60 months		Montana	60 months	
Alaska	60 months		Nebraska	60 months	
Arizona	24 months		Nevada	60 months	24 months
					by 12
					months of
Arkansas	24months		New	60 months	mengionity
I mansus	2411011115		Hampshire	00 months	
California	48 months		New Jersey	60 months	
Colorado	60 months		New Mexico	60 months	
Connecticut	21months		New York ²	60 months	
Delaware	36 months		North Carolina	60 months	24 months
Deluwale	50 montais		i torur curonnu	oo monuis	by 36
					months of
					ineligibility ¹
Florida	48 months		North Dakota	60 months	
Georgia	48 months		Ohio	60 months	36 months
					by 24
					months of
Hamaii	$(0, \dots, on the$		Oblahama	$(0, \dots, \infty)$	ineligibility
Hawall	60 months		Oklanoma	60 months	
Idano	24 months		Oregon	60 months	
Illinois	60 months		Pennsylvania	60 months	a () () ³
Indiana	24 months		Rhode Island	48 months	$24 \text{ of } 60^3$
Louvo	60 months		South Carolina	60 months	months $24 \text{ of } 120^3$
Iowa	00 monuis		South Carolina	00 monuis	24 01 120 months
V	4.0		Gradh Dalarta	(0,,	montus
Kansas	48 months		South Dakota	60 months	
Kentucky	60 months	2 1 1 1 1 1	Tennessee	60 months	10.04
Louisiana	60 months	$24 \text{ of } 60^{\circ}$	Texas	60 months	12, 24, or
		months			36 months
					months of
					ineligibility ¹
Maine	60 months		Utah	36 months	
Maryland	60 months		Vermont	N/A^4	
Massachusetts	N/A^4	24 of 60^3	Virginia	60 months	24 months
111000000110000000	1.011	months	(11 <u>8</u> 11114	00 11011010	by 24
					months of
					ineligibility ¹
Michigan	48 months		Washington	60 months	
Minnesota	60 months		West Virginia	60 months	

Table	2.4	- continued

State	State Lifetime Time Limit	Other State Time Limit	State	State Lifetime Time Limit	Other State Time Limit
Mississippi	60 months		Wisconsin	60 months	
Missouri	60 months		Wyoming	60 months	

Source: Welfare Rules Databook: State TANF Policies of July 2013 Note:

¹Nevada, North Carolina, Ohio, Texas, and Virginia implement 'benefit waiting periods' as state time limit policies.

² New York has a 60-month lifetime limit, but also has a safety net program to serve recipients who reached the limit through a separate state program.

³ Louisiana, Massachusetts, Rhode Island, and South Carolina adopt 'periodic limits', and periodic limits of Massachusetts and South Carolina only apply to TANF nonexempt recipients.

⁴ Massachusetts and Vermont do not have lifetime limits.

As of 2013 July, 13 states have shorter lifetime limits than the federal lifetime limit³⁷. In most states, if families reach their lifetime limit, they exit the TANF mostly involuntarily, though the benefits of some families may be extended depending on states' discretion and specific rules. According to the report by the Office of Family Assistance (OFA) of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS), nationally, 1,839,528 cases were closed in FY 2012, and 2.9 percent of them were due to the exhausted time limit. (i.e., 2.1 percent for federal time limit and 0.8 percent for state time limit). This 2.9 percentage seems small compared to other reasons for closure³⁸, but cannot be neglected because the total number of closed cases in FY 2012 was quite huge, 1,839,528, compared to the number of active cases, 1,753,021.

³⁷ The followings are states adopting shorter lifetime limit: Arizona, Arkansas, California, Connecticut, Delaware, Florida, Georgia, Idaho, Indiana, Kansas, Michigan, Rhode Island, and Utah. New Mexico applies shorter lifetime limit for recipients engaged in Educational Works Programs to obtain degree for higher education. Since 2007, this program has been funded through state general fund, not state MOE funds, which does not count toward TANF MOE, so New Mexico is not included in states adopting shorter lifetime limit.

³⁸ The followings are percentages for disclosure reasons: employment (17.4%), marriage (0.6%), voluntary closure (12%), others (26.8%), work related sanction (6.2%), failure to cooperate with eligibility requirements (14.6%), other sanction for non-MOE program (7.7%), and state policy (10.4%), transfer to MOE (1.2%), and served by tribal program (0.1%) (Office of Family Assistance, 2012).

Scholars used pre and post welfare reform data to examine the impact of time limits on the TANF caseloads or participation, and mostly they used a dummy variable to indicate whether states implemented time limit or not without differentiating the length of time limit (Ribal et al, 2008). Grogger (2003) also used a dummy variable for time limits (i.e., coded as 1 in all years after a state implemented time limit) and examined the impact of time limits on the welfare use (related to caseloads), employment and earnings, targeting female-headed families during the period of 1978-1999. He found that time limits not only significantly reduced welfare use among female householders, but also increased employment. This result indicates that time limits, controlling for other economic and policy related factors, contributed to a decline in welfare use among female householders. Other studies by Grogger (2002; 2004) also confirmed that time limits lead to decline in welfare use. Based on those findings, it is argued that states with time limits are likely to have fewer female-headed families in TANF and higher employment rates among female head recipients; this suggests time limits can increase TANF work participation rates by eliminating female householder recipients from the roll and also encouraging their employment.

Given previous research on TANF time limits and its effect on caseloads, it appears that establishing time limits had a strong impact on the caseload reduction by making families who reached their time limit leave TANF. However, it is empirically unknown to what extent adopting a shorter time limit than the federal time limit will further induce recipients' behavioral changes (e.g., employment of recipients and TANF exit). Based on the fact that time limits have a significant impact on the use of welfare, it is argued that imposing a shorter time limit would eliminate more families in the work participation calculation, which will lead to a higher work participation rate.

Hypothesis 7: States with shorter lifetime limits than the federal time limit are more likely to have higher TANF work participation rates.

2.5.5 Diversion Program

States have developed diversion programs³⁹ to try to keep people off TANF. As of 2013, there were 32 states implementing diversion programs, excluding the District Columbia. Despite its clear and convincing purpose to help families facing short-term hardship, diversion programs have been criticized as a strategy states use to distract people from enrolling in TANF, which will reduce states' costs. This is mainly because in some states, families who received diversion program benefits become ineligible for some periods, and their months count toward the TANF lifetime limit when those families apply and receive TANF assistance.

Based on two reasons (i.e., Diversion program recipients' ineligibility periods and their months counting toward TANF lifetime limit when they receive TANF), it seems to be a valid criticism that diversion programs distract needy people from the TANF, but evidence indicate that not all states utilize diversion programs in that way. Among 32 states implementing diversion programs, 27 states do not count months of diversion assistance receipt toward TANF

³⁹ Diversion programs have been implemented since 1997 to provide short-term assistance to families undergoing financial difficulties, and assistance is provided normally in the form of lump sum cash payments (i.e., mostly multiple TANF benefits they might be able to receive if they applied) or vouchers for limited duration. Target groups are TANF applicants, not recipients, and once applicants receive benefits from diversion programs for maximum periods, they normally become ineligible for periods of time (e.g., one to twelve months depending on a state's policy) and can not apply for TANF if they need further assistance to get through difficulties.

time limits, and 6 states (New Jersey, New York, North Carolina, North Dakota, Vermont, and Wisconsin) among those 27 states do not impose any penalty (i.e., families who received diversion payments are immediately eligible for TANF without any periods of ineligibility).

In this regard, states that do not count diversion payment months toward TANF time limit or/and not impose ineligibility periods for TANF are considered more generous relative to other states that do not implement diversion programs or those who count diversion months toward TANF time limit. The relationship between TANF work participation rate and generosity in diversion program is quite vague because we don't have exact information such as the percentage of people transitioning from diversion to TANF program. Generous diversion program allows former diversion recipients to receive TANF benefits longer or immediately if they apply for TANF and are accepted, which will increase the number of total TANF recipients. TANF work participation rates depend on relative changes in the number of working recipients to the increase in total number of TANF recipients; however, it makes sense to expect that TANF work participation rates will decline at least in the short term since recipients have grace periods to prepare for work before their work activities are mandatorily counted.

Hypothesis 8: States that do not impose any restrictions (i.e., no ineligibility period after the diversion periods end or no inclusion of diversion months into TANF time limit) on former diversion recipients when they apply for TANF are more likely to have lower TANF work participation rates.

2.6 Summary

In this section, literatures that help explain and support the use of the major independent variables in my models were reviewed. Since the focus of this study is on states' policy response to the DRA which includes solely state funded programs, worker supplement programs, and severe sanctions, and their overall stance on welfare programs, hypotheses relevant to those variables are separately stated. To simplify the overall summary of my hypotheses and their predicted direction, Table 2.5 shows the independent variables used in the analysis and the expected impact of each variable on TANF work participation rates.

Table	2.5:	Expected	Direction	of Hypot	heses
				2	

	Variables	Hypothesized Direction
	Solely State Funded (SSF) Program	+
Doliou	SSF x Worker Supplement Program	+
Posponso	Sanction Severity	
Response	(1) Full Family Sanction	+
	(2) Disqualification on SNAP	+
	General Assistance Program	-
	Coverage for Qualified Immigrants	-
Generosity	State EITC	+
	States' Shorter Lifetime Limit	+
	Diversion Program	-

CHAPTER 3

RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODS

3.1 Research Design

This chapter describes a research design and statistical methods used to empirically test the research questions. The units of analysis in this study are the fifty states, and their performances in TANF work participation rates after the passage of the 2005 DRA will be examined in its relationship with policies states implemented in response to the passage of DRA. In line with this purpose, the nine hypotheses developed in chapter two will be tested using a cross sectional time series research design over a 7- year period since the FY 2007 when the DRA became effective.

3.2 Data

3.2.1 Data Definition, Measurement, and Collection

This study mostly uses data officially released from the government or government agencies. The following three sections describe the definition, measurement and the source of each variable used in this study.

3.2.1.1 Dependent variable. The dependent variable in this study is a TANF work participation rate, and it is defined as the number of TANF recipients engaged in countable work activities among the total work eligible individual (WEI) recipients. The Office of Family Assistance (OFA) of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) annually releases states' work participation rates (WPR), and the WPR data is available on their website. The OFA provides three types of TANF work participation rates subject to the funding source: (1) TANF, (2) SSP-MOE, and (3) Combined (TANF+SSP-MOE). This study uses the combined TANF and

SSP-MOE work participation rates for 'all families' because family served by TANF funds and SSP-MOE funds are all included in the calculation. The annual report also presents work participation rates for two-parent families, but the major concern of this study is on all families. Since there are some states that do not serve two-parent families with TANF or SSP-MOE funds, two-parent families in those states are not considered in the calculation of TANF work participation rates, and those states have no obligation of reporting work participation rates for two-parent families to the OFA.

3.2.1.2 Independent variables. There are two sets of independent variables under two categories, (1) states' policy choices in response to the DRA and (2) states' generosity on welfare programs. First, under the states' policy response, there are three variables: (1) solely state funded (SSF) program, (2) worker supplement program (WSP), and (3) sanction severity.

Solely state funded program is a binary variable, coded as 1 if states have implemented solely state funded programs and 0 otherwise. It represents whether states serve two-parent families whose benefits are most likely to be excluded from the TANF under the DRA. The information regarding states' adoption of solely state funded programs is obtained from various sources such as state policy manuals, state administrative rules, state TANF plan⁴⁰ and the caseload reduction report. There is no official database/report that shows 50 states' adoption of solely state funded program is a binary (dummy) variable, coded as 1 if states have worker supplement programs and 0 otherwise. Its interaction term with solely state funded program is included to test the relevant hypothesis. To

⁴⁰ Each state is required to submit a written document referred to as state plan to the Department of Health and Human Services for the upcoming fiscal year to show their commitment to TANF.

acquire the data with respect to states' adoption of worker supplement program, we first referred to the report⁴¹ by the Center on Budget and Policy Priorities and updated the data by revisiting each state's TANF state plan, TANF policy manuals, the caseload reduction reports, and Government Accountability Office (GAO) report and checking whether states changed the status of implementing worker supplement programs during the 7 year period.

Sanction severity is measured by two dimensions: (1) coverage and (2) its impact on SNAP. Sanction coverage is a binary (dummy) variable coded as 1 if states employ full family sanctions⁴², and 0 for states with partial sanctions. TANF sanction restriction on SNAP is also a binary (dummy) variable that indicates whether TANF sanctions due to noncompliance with work requirements impose more harsh restriction on SNAP benefits than the federal requirement. It is coded as 1 if states' TANF sanctions for noncompliance with work requirements lead to more harsh restriction on SNAP than the federal requirements (i.e., disqualify SNAP recipients longer than the federal minimum and/or exclude entire families from SNAP) and 0 otherwise. Data regarding the coverage of sanctions is obtained from the Welfare Rules Database of the Urban Institute, and SNAP disqualification data is collected from 50 states' policy manuals, administrative rules, and state plan.

Under states' stance on welfare, five variables are introduced: (1) General Assistance, (2) Qualified immigrants coverage, (3) State EITC, (4) TANF time limit, and (5) Diversion program. General Assistance is a binary variable, coded as 1 if states implement GA programs and 0

⁴¹ The report (Liz Schott, 2008) suggests the status of 50 states' adoption of worker supplement program as of 2008, and for the rest of years up to 2013, I visited the 50 states' policy manuals, administrative rules, and TANF plans to check whether some states implemented it after 2008. States that had implemented, but suspended worker supplement programs after 2008 were also checked.

⁴² Immediate and gradual sanctions are regarded as the same in terms of coverage.

otherwise. The data are based on the research reports⁴³ by the Urban Institute and the Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, and the changes in states' GA program status were tracked by visiting each state's website and checking relevant documents (e.g., appropriation report, state regulation, and memorandum). Qualified immigrants coverage variable represents whether states serve qualified immigrants who came to the U.S. after the welfare reform during their 5-year waiting periods. It is a binary variable coded as 1 if states serve those qualified immigrants during the waiting periods and 0 otherwise. Data are obtained from the Welfare Rules Database of the Urban Institute and the issue brief by the PEW Charitable Trusts. State EITC is a continuous variable indicating the portion of states' federal EITC in a percentage form. Information regarding the implementation of state EITC is from the Center on Budget and Policy Priorities.

State lifetime limit is a binary (dummy) variable representing whether states adopt shorter lifetime limits than the federal lifetime limit of 60 months. It is coded as 1 if states adopt shorter lifetime limits than the federal limit, and otherwise 0. The data are obtained from the Welfare Rules Database of the Urban Institute⁴⁴. Diversion is a binary variable, coded as 1 if states employ diversion programs and do not impose restrictions on diversion recipients when they apply to TANF. States are regarded as not imposing restrictions when they do not require an ineligibility period for diversion recipients when they apply to TANF and do not count diversion months toward TANF lifetime limit. States that do not employ diversion programs or have

⁴³ There are four available reports from the Urban Institute (Uccello and Gallagher, 1997; Gallagher, 1999) and the Center on Budget and Policy Priorities (Schott and Cho, 2011; Schott and Hill, 2015). But these reports do not provide entire data needed, so relevant documents (e.g., appropriation report, state regulation, and memorandum) were used to update the data.

⁴⁴ Urban Institute has a longitudinal database that tracks the state policies of AFDC/TANF, and it contains data from 1996 to 2014 as of 2015.

diversion programs with restrictions on the TANF application are coded as 0 because it is not generous if diversion plays a distracting role. The data for each state's diversion program are obtained from the Welfare Rules Database of the Urban Institute.

3.2.1.3 Control variables. A number of control variables at different levels are included in this study. Race represents the proportion of non-white to total population⁴⁵, and female-headed household is the proportion of female-headed households among total households. Households here indicate family households, not nonfamily households. All data are from the U.S. Census Bureau.

To capture state characteristics, political and economic factors are included in the analysis. This paper uses state government ideology developed by Berry et al (1998; 2010) to measure the political orientation of electorates and state legislators. The positions of state government are on a conservative–liberal continuum, and the higher score indicates a more liberal orientation of state government. Recently, the ideology measure has been updated as of 2015 March, and data are now available up to FY2014 for the NOMINATE version of state government ideology. In this study, we will use the NOMINATE version of state government ideology based on the fact that it showed higher performance in validity tests (Berry et al, 2010). Data are from the website, https://rcfording.wordpress.com/state-ideology-data/, used to release updated measures.

⁴⁵ The same model is run with two variables (African American population and Hispanic population) separately and together instead of the proportion of nonwhite, and the results showed that both did not have statistical significance.

For economic factors, Total Taxable Resources (TTS) per capita and unemployment rates are used. Total Taxable Resources (TTS) per capita captures states' relative fiscal capacity in terms of their revenue structure, and it is regarded as a better and more comprehensive measure than state personal income (SPI) or gross state product (GSP) because TTS per capita includes taxable income sources⁴⁶ that the other two measures do not capture according to the Department of Treasury. The Department of Treasury defines TTS as "the unduplicated sum of the income flows produced within a state (GSP) and the income flows received by its residents (SPI) which a state can potentially tax" (p. 2) and releases TTS (\$), TTS per capita (\$), and TTS per capita index annually. This research used TTS per capita data from the U.S. Department of Treasury website, and it is transformed into a log form. As an accompanying indicator of economic downturn, a lagged unemployment rate has been used as a measure of labor market condition that reflects economy. The unemployment rate is calculated dividing the number of unemployed by total labor force, and the data are collected from the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics.

Sometimes, there is a path dependency in the way programs are administered, and preexisting conditions or the inherent nature of programs rarely change or do not catch up with policy changes promptly. To capture states' unique features in administering TANF, several variables representing program characteristics are taken into account in the analysis. Lagged values of TANF caseloads and the rate of sanctioned families failing to comply with work requirements are included. The lagged value of TANF caseloads indicates the number of families receiving TANF benefits in a previous year, and it was presented in a logged form. The lagged value of work related sanctioned family rate is calculated dividing the number of sanctioned

⁴⁶ For instance, Gross State Product (GSP) does not include incomes earned from out of state such as residents' earnings, dividend, and interest income from other state (out of state), and State Personal Income (SPI) also is not comprehensive because it does not include corporate profits and business income that may be taxed through corporate income tax and state business taxes (U.S. Department of Treasury).

families due to failure to comply with TANF work requirements by the total number of families receiving TANF in a previous year. Data regarding previous year's TANF caseload and sanctioned family rate are collected from the Office of Family Assistance (OFA) of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Also, states' maximum monthly benefit and initial income threshold are used as controls. The maximum TANF benefit is the maximum amount of monthly TANF benefits each state provides to families of three (single adult with two children) with no income, and the initial income threshold indicates the maximum earnings TANF applicants (families of three including one adult and two children) can hold, but still be eligible for TANF. They are log transformed in the analysis, and the data are collected from the Urban Institute's Welfare Rules Database. Table 3.1 presents the measurement and source of each variable.

Variables	Measurement / Source
TANF Participation rate	The proportion of recipients engaged in countable
	work activities to total work eligible individuals
	receiving TANF
	Office of Family Assistance (OFA) of the U.S DHHS
Solely State Funded Program	States with SSF programs 1, others 0
	Center on Budget and Policy Priorities report (Schott
	and Parrott, 2009), policy manual, administrative rule,
	TANF State Plan, TANF caseload reduction report
	TANF work verification plan, the Legislative Audit
	Council report, GAO report (May 2010)
Worker Supplement Program	States with worker supplement programs 1, others 0
	Center on Budget and Policy Priorities Report (Schott,
	2008), TANF State Plan, TANF caseload reduction
	report, TANF policy manual, GAO report (May 2010)
Sanction Coverage	Full family sanction 1, others 0
	Welfare Rules Database of Urban Institute
Sanction Restriction on SNAP	More Harsh Restriction on SNAP 1, others 0
	Welfare Rules Database of Urban Institute
	Policy manual, administrative rule

Table 3.1 Data Measurement and Source

Table 3.1 – continued

Variables	Measurement / Source
General Assistance Program	States with GA program 1, others 0
	Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, Urban
	Institute, appropriation report, state regulation and
	memorandum
Qualified Immigrants	Cover qualified immigrants 1, others 0
Coverage	Urban Institute Welfare Rules Database & the
	PEW Charitable Trusts
State EITC	Sates implementing state EITC 1, others 0
	Center on Budget and Policy Priorities
State Lifetime Limit	Shorter than the federal time limit 1, others 0
	Welfare Rules Database of Urban Institute
Diversion Program	Diversion program with no restriction on diversion
	recipients when applying to TANF 1, others 0
	Welfare Rules Database of Urban Institute
Non-White	The proportion of non-white to total population
	U.S. Census Bureau
Female-Headed Households	The proportion of female headed HH to total HH
	U.S. Census Bureau
State Government Ideology	Ideology score for each state government; high
	score indicates liberal orientation
	Berry et al (2010)
	https://rcfording.wordpress.com/state-ideology-
	data/
TTS per capita (\$)	Log (Total Taxable Resource /population)
	Total taxable resource is the unduplicated sum of
	gross state product and taxable income sources its
	resident receives from out of state.
	U.S. Department of Treasury
Unemployment t-1	The proportion of unemployed to total work force
	U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics
TANF Caseload t-1	Log (the number of TANF families in a previous
	year)
	Office of Family Assistance of the U.S DHHS
Sanctioned Family rate t-1	The proportion of families sanctioned due to failure
	to comply with work requirements to total recipient
	families in a previous year
	OFA of the U.S DHHS
Maximum TANF benefits (\$)	Log (TANF maximum monthly benefits)
	Welfare Rules Database of Urban Institute
Maximum Income for Initial	Log (TANF maximum income threshold)
Eligibility (\$)	Welfare Rules Database of Urban Institute

3.3 Statistical Method and Model

3.3.1 Analytic Technique

This study deals with panel data: the same units (50 states) are observed repeatedly over the seven-year periods from FY 2007 to 2013. So, we use panel analysis as a statistical technique using STATA software. The dataset is cross-sectional dominant (i.e., N>T) and strongly balanced. There are different statistical methods to handle cross sectional time series data such as Parks-Kmenta's method using feasible generalized least squares (FGLS) estimation and Beck and Katz's (1995) ordinary least squares with panel corrected standard errors, so called PCSE. It is reported that FGLS⁴⁷ is not suitable for panel data where the number of units considerably exceed the number of time periods (i.e., N>T), and PCSE is effective for time dominant data where T has at least 15 time periods (Certo and Semadeni, 2006). Since it is expected that there may be heterogeneity across time and/or units (states), we suspect that errors may contain cross sectional and/or time effects that need to be addressed. The Hausman test was performed to determine the proper technique between fixed effects and random effects models, and a fixed effects model is chosen based on the test result⁴⁸.

Some argue that it may not be a critical problem for micro panel data that involves only a few years, but there are statistical issues that need to be accounted for in panel data analysis: serial correlation, heteroskedasticity, and contemporaneous correlation. Serial correlation seems to show less influence on the accuracy of estimation when the data is 'cross-sectional dominant' (i.e., N>T) (Stimson, 1985); however, the presence of contemporaneous correlation and heteroskedasticity causes incorrect estimations, producing overconfidence levels (Certo and

⁴⁷ FGLS also produces underestimated standard errors (Beck and Katz, 2001).

⁴⁸ Hausman test result shows that the null hypothesis is rejected at the p-value of 0.0000.

Semadeni, 2006). Diagnostics to check the presence of serial correlation, heteroskedasticity, and contemporaneous correlation⁴⁹were performed, and the result suggests the presence of serial correlation and heteroskedasticity. In order to correct such problems, estimates are presented with cluster-robust standard errors using the command, vce (cluster states). Based on the idea that including time dummy variables significantly reduces the overconfidence level problem caused by heteroscedasticity and contemporaneous correlation and thereby improves the accuracy of coefficient estimation (Certo and Semadeni, 2006), inclusion of time variables was considered. A joint test that all years are equal to zero was conducted using the command, *testparm*, but the test failed to reject the null, which indicates no time fixed effects are needed, so we did not include time dummy variables in the analysis.

3.3.2 Model

The following econometric model is used to obtain the effect of states' policy response on TANF work participation rates.

$$P_{it} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 Policy Response_{it} + \beta_2 Generosity_{it} + \beta_3 Control_{it} + e_{it} (1)$$

where *i*=1,...,50 (states), *t*=2007,...,2013 (years)

In the models above, *i* denotes cross-sectional units, which are states, and *t* denotes each time period, years. *Policy Response* includes five variables that show states' implementation of solely state funded (SSF) programs, worker supplement programs (WSP), the implementation of both SSF programs and WSP (interaction term), and sanction policy (sanction coverage and sanction restriction on SNAP). Sanction policy indicates whether states adopt more harsh sanction for

⁴⁹ Diagnostics for contemporaneous correlation (i.e., cross sectional dependence) is to check whether errors of unit *i* are correlated with errors of unit *j* in a given time t.

noncompliance with work requirements and consists of two elements: (1) sanction coverage and (2) sanction restriction on SNAP. *Generosity* contains five variables: (1) GA program, (2) coverage for qualified immigrants during the waiting period, (3) state EITC, (4) TANF time limit, and (5) diversion program. Lastly, e_{it} is a compounding error term, including unobserved effects. Since the fixed effect model is used, time-invariant effects are eliminated, and thereby, the error term does not have a component of time-invariant effects (i.e., unobserved effects).

CHAPTER 4

RESULTS

In order to estimate the impact of policies states implemented in response to the passage of DRA, the fixed effects model was used, and the cluster-robust standard errors are estimated due to the presence of heteroskedasticity and serial correlation. The within R² is 0.2876, which indicates that approximately 29 percent of the within variation in TANF work participation rate is explained by the within variation in independent variables in the model⁵⁰. Descriptive statistics are provided in the Appendix A. In chapter 2, we do not hypothesize the separate impact of worker supplement program on the TANF work participation rate because it is unclear how worker supplement programs affect TANF work participation rate considering that low-income working families who are assisted by worker supplement programs are included in the work participation calculation increasing both the numerator (number of working TANF recipients) and the denominator (total work eligible TANF recipients). We ran two models with and without worker supplement program as a single variable, and the test results with worker supplement program as a single variable.

⁵⁰ Since the overall R^2 produced by the fixed effects model does not include unit (state) effects (i.e., intercepts are eliminated in the FE model), the commend *areg* was used to obtain the overall R^2 . The adjusted overall R^2 obtained is 0.7494. The coefficient estimates from *areg* command are the same as ones from *xtreg*.

⁵¹ When the model is run without the worker supplement program as a single variable, states implementing both solely state funded program and worker supplement program (i.e., interaction variable) show significantly higher performance in TANF work participation. For other variables, test results are similar in terms of coefficient magnitude and direction such that sanction related variables, female-headed households, states' fiscal capacity, and the maximum monthly benefit turn out to be significant predictors in explaining states' TANF work participation rates; however, states' caseload in a previous year became insignificant in the model without worker supplement program as a single variable. See the table A.5 in the appendix.

	Combined WPR
Solely State Funded (SSF) Program	0.053
	(0.039)
Worker Supplement Program (WSP)	0.065*
	(0.038)
SSF x WSP	0.016
	(0.035)
Full Family Sanction	0.295***
	(0.021)
Sanction Effect on SNAP	0.134**
	(0.059)
GA Program	0.021
-	(0.030)
Coverage of Qualified Aliens	-0.010
	(0.018)
State EITC	0.459
	(0.307)
Shorter Time Limit	0.029
	(0.038)
Diversion w/o Restriction	0.007
	(0.032)
Government Ideology	-0.000
	(0.000)
Non-White	-0.222
	(0.628)
Female-headed Households	-3.697**
	(1.629)
Work Sanction rate t-1	0.164
	(0.377)
Unemployment t-1	-0.148
	(0.331)
Log (TTS per capita)	0.267**
	(0.117)
Log (Maximum Monthly Benefits)	0.237**
	(0.090)
Log (Maximum Initial Income Threshold)	-0.093
	(0.057)
Log (Caseload t-1)	0.083**
	(0.039)
cons	-4.258
_	(1.565)
Within R^2	0.29
N	350

Table 4.1: Fixed Effects Model of TANF Work Participation Rates

The test result run by the fixed effects model shows that states implementing worker supplement programs achieve higher TANF work participation rates than states without them; the effect was significant and positive as was hypothesized. Thus, we can argue that benefits (i.e., cash payments, transitional services such as child care and transportation) from states' worker supplement programs indeed help low-income working families, who were former TANF recipients, stay in employment. In this regard, it seems this policy successfully works as it was designed, and helps states improve TANF performance. Adopting solely state funded programs for two-parent families increases TANF work participation rates, but the coefficient was not statistically significant. Also, the hypothesis with respect to an interaction term between worker supplement programs and solely state funded programs did not prove to have a large coefficient.

In terms of sanction effects on TANF work participation, consistent findings were obtained as other sanction literatures predicted. Severe sanctions turned out to be effective policy tools to enhance performance, confirming two hypotheses, 3(a) and 3(b). States adopting full family sanctions have a 0.29 percent higher TANF work participation rate than states with partial sanctions. Likewise, states imposing longer SNAP disqualification periods for recipients who failed to comply with TANF work requirements or disqualifying entire families instead of the noncompliant individual show a 0.13 percent higher TANF work participation rate than states imposing no more than the federal minimum disqualification. Based on the empirical test result, it is found that states' policy choice for more stringent eligibility has more positive impact on the performance than their policy choice for more lenient coverage at least in TANF program.

61

For more detailed information of whether stringent sanction policies encourage recipients to work or eliminate sanctioned recipients from the TANF, we estimated the same model with two different dependent variables, (1) log (number of TANF recipients engaged in countable work activities) and (2) log (number of work eligible individuals receiving TANF assistance). The test results show that states adopting full family sanctions have positive impact both on total work eligible TANF recipients and their working status⁵². Also, states with harsh disqualification policy on SNAP benefits for noncompliance with TANF work requirements have significant impact on TANF recipients engaged in work activities⁵³. These results indicate that in TANF severe sanctions positively affect TANF recipients by encouraging or forcing TANF recipients to involve more in work activities.

When looking at the results of the generosity variables, they are interesting. All variables under states' stance on welfare showed an expected direction as hypothesized except GA program and diversion program variables, but none of them were statistically significant. Among those, it is surprising that we cannot conclude that states' shorter lifetime limit than the federal limit increases TANF work participation by eliminating time-exhausted families from the roll or inducing behavioral changes (i.e., encouraging them to work) of recipients. If the effectiveness of adopting a shorter state time limit is not empirically verified, adopting a shorter lifetime limit will only cut benefits needy people can receive, which deteriorates their living income levels.

 ⁵² Coefficients of full family sanctions on TANF recipients engaged in work activities and work eligible TANF recipients are 1.332 and 0.389 respectively, and they are statistically significant at .01 level.
⁵³ Coefficients of TANF sanction effect on SNAP variable on TANF recipients engaged in work activities and work eligible TANF recipients are 0.601 and 0.198 respectively, and its impact on TANF recipients who are working turns out to be statistically significant at .05 level.

Other than state time limits, the test results of other variables imply that states' generosity in other welfare programs may not have any direct relevance to TANF performance. And, this leads us to think about several things. Foremost, states should not be worried about whether their generosity in other welfare programs will prevent them from achieving higher performance in TANF. Our test result shows that there is no evidence that qualified aliens who are ineligible for TANF due to their waiting period would become potential TANF clients after the waiting period ends if states cover them during the period. Likewise, these results do not support the hypothesis that states providing diversion programs without any restriction on recipients when they apply to TANF would achieve lower TANF work participation rates.

In addition, states' higher demand for TANF and their fiscal capacity are significant predictors in explaining TANF work participation rates. The result suggests that states with more female headed households with children under 18 achieve lower TANF work participation rates⁵⁴, and states with more taxable resources are more likely to have higher TANF work participation rates. Considering that most TANF recipients are female-headed households with children, it is likely that they face more challenges in being employed or maintaining jobs, which may lead to lower work participation; however, it is quite interesting that states with more fiscal resources tend to achieve higher TANF work participation rates. There may be other factors between states' total taxable resources and higher work participation that are not presented in this study.

Most program-related variables (i.e., maximum monthly benefits and caseload in a previous year) turn out to be significant in predicting TANF work participation rates. It seems

⁵⁴ The test result shows that a 1% increase in female-headed households with children under 18 leads to a 3% decrease in TANF work participation rates.
states with higher caseloads in a previous year respond to their threat (high caseloads) that may jeopardize meeting the requirements and keeping federal funds, which leads them to achieve higher TANF work participation next year. The result shows that higher maximum monthly benefits families receive lead to higher TANF work participation rates. It needs more investigation to explain why, but there is a plausible answer for this finding. If the monthly benefits they receive are too low to make a living, they may have no incentives for complying with requirements (i.e., engaging in work activities) in response to receiving TANF benefits. States providing high TANF monthly benefits may be deemed generous, but it is hard to conclude that. TANF benefit levels have been criticized because it has not been properly adjusted in response to inflation since 1996, and thus some people argue that benefit levels are too low to make ends meet for recipients compared to Federal Poverty Level (FPL) (Schott and Finch, 2010).

CHAPTER 5

CONCLUSION

5.1 Contribution of the Study

The enactment of the Deficit Reduction Act (DRA) of 2005 is significant in that it was the latest TANF reauthorization⁵⁵ and modified the program greatly affecting states' TANF implementation over a decade. But TANF studies have failed to update and recognize the impact of the DRA on states' TANF implementation; one of the most recent studies that discuss states' TANF implementation and outcome might be Kim and Fording (2010)⁵⁶, but their study does not reflect recent changes in state TANF policies as they are using the data from 2000 to 2003 for TANF performance measures (job entry, job retention, and earnings gains) that are no longer available⁵⁷. This study revisited states' TANF policy drawing a meaningful implication that states' policy choices make a difference in performance, and it bridges the gap between academic research and policy.

Also, the empirical findings of this study enrich literatures of welfare policy by suggesting the effect of state programs under the DRA, which has been rarely reported in welfare studies. Contrary to the large number of reports that have been released by research institute, no literature discusses whether state programs succeeded or failed in meeting the goal of the DRA

⁵⁶ Kim and Fording (2010) investigated the impact of second-order devolution (SOD) on the TANF caseload reduction and also examined the impact of SOD on sanction stringency and TANF outcomes of 'employment exits, job retention, and earnings gains' to find out the mechanism of SOD effects.
⁵⁷ The DRA eliminated the \$200 million per year funding for the high performance bonus where states competed based on their performances on three work related measures: (1) job entry, (2) job retention, and (3) earnings gains (Susan, 2006). Currently the Administration for Children and Families (ACF) only provides limited data (i.e., some states have submitted sample data, not population data), and the latest available one is FY 2011.

⁵⁵ TANF reauthorization, which was scheduled in 2010, was delayed, and currently, the TANF funding is extended until September 30, 2016 (Budget and Deficit Reduction, n.d.).

in TANF. In the past, TANF research studies have been geared toward examining states' generosity/stringency in providing benefits, and programs states have implemented since the welfare reform of 1996 were used to measure the generosity/stringency of states. In addition, meeting TANF work requirements had not been a big issue for states before the DRA was enacted given that almost no state failed to meet the requirements. Consequently, TANF performance has not been the center of research, and state TANF programs were mostly analyzed in terms of their impact on the increase or decrease in demand for benefit (e.g., changes in total caseloads). However, since states' relative level of generosity or stringency is not related to the success or failure of state programs, we have not known the effectiveness of state programs to meet the TANF goals. In order to properly assess state programs, an appropriate performance indicator that is designed to correspond to the program objective should be used. In this regard, this study is distinctive from others contributing to welfare policy literatures by providing empirical evidence that may extend the scope of future research in TANF.

Since we primarily read about the race to the bottom literatures in welfare, arguing states would avoid being a magnet for needy people, it may seem counterintuitive to find that some states have employed worker supplement programs to serve more needy people. But this study finds, based on empirical evidence, that worker supplement programs states implemented to respond to the enactment of DRA is effective in improving TANF work participation rates. Therefore, it appears to be a correct call for states to design and implement this program to deal with tougher work requirements under the DRA. To my knowledge, no empirical study has examined the impact of worker supplement programs on TANF performance, and thus this study

66

should provide valuable information to states that are at risk of failing to meet the requirement or hesitate to implement this program due to its unknown impact on TANF performance.

Other than improving TANF performance and helping more needy people,⁵⁸ implementation of worker supplement programs has another attractive feature; it may not require additional funds for states to implement depending on how it is structured. As discussed in the section 2.4.2, states can provide low-income working families with assistance using TANF or MOE funds, which allows states to keep those served by worker supplement programs in the calculation of TANF work participation, and thus it would not burden some states with fiscal difficulties. Based on our test results and the advantages this program seems to have, we suggest that states consider implementing worker supplement programs because this program allows states to pursue two goals of meeting the work requirements and helping needy people at the same time; these goals are oftentimes conflicting in other policies.

This study and its results demonstrate the need to assess effectiveness of policy tools as to whether they are properly utilized to meet the program purpose as it was designed. Unlike previous studies measuring sanction severity only in terms of its coverage, this study takes into account the link between TANF sanctions and SNAP eligibility to measure sanction severity; TANF sanctions for noncompliance with work requirements do have effects on TANF sanctioned recipients' SNAP benefits. This study shows that severe sanctions (i.e., fully family sanction and harsh SNAP disqualification for noncompliance with TANF work requirements) work effectively in improving TANF performance and also suggests that the impact of sanctions

⁵⁸ At first, states covered low-income working families who left TANF due to earnings from work through worker supplement programs, but now they tend to extend its coverage to low-income working families regardless of TANF receipt.

on TANF might be much larger than we have known given that sanction severity has not been examined from various angles. Through the additional separate analysis of sanction effects on TANF recipients who are working, it is found that severe sanctions in TANF have positively affected TANF recipients' working status. In addition, we argue that states' time limit may not be an effective policy tool, but a punitive one since our study suggests there is no empirical evidence that states' shorter time limit would produce much effectiveness in improving TANF performance as TANF sanctions do.

5.2. Limitations of the Study

Despite the contributions this dissertation makes, there are many areas that need to be further investigated. This study lacks the explanation of how state policies (SSF programs, WSPs, and severe sanctions) induce behavioral changes in a way to increase recipients' self-sufficiency. Since this paper does not look at total TANF caseloads, it is unclear to what extent TANF program help needy people who failed to meet the work requirements to have more selfsufficiency.

In terms of empirical test results, there are unanswered questions. First, the impact of solely state funded programs on TANF work participation rates is positive as hypothesized but insignificant. Since states are not obligated to report the number of two-parent families assisted through solely state funded programs, the proportion of those people among total TANF recipients is unknown. One possible explanation may be the small number of two-parent families who are removed from the TANF roll due to the implementation of solely state funded programs. Second, variables under states' stance on welfare are all insignificant according to the test result.

So, it is unknown how states' generosity affects TANF work participation. In addition, even though they turn out to be significant, we may not know the mechanisms of causation between each independent variable and TANF work participation rate in terms of how such programs' generosity lead to changes in TANF work participation. Due to the lack of empirical literatures covering the same or similar subjects as this paper, it is plausible that this model unintentionally ignores possible interaction among variables or omits a variable that may play an interacting role between other welfare programs and TANF.

In addition, there are some significant variables which may need more explanation. Some of the control variables are significant in explaining TANF work participation rates, but the implication of the test results regarding total taxable resources per capita and previous year's caseload seems to be unclear. It is often the case to expect that states under fiscal pressure are more likely to rely on federal money and be more attentive to meeting the requirements. But the test result was opposite to our hypothesis suggesting that states with higher taxable resources are more likely to achieve higher TANF work participation rates.

This may be due to the fact that the dependent variable in this study represents more about states' performance (in a percentage form) than whether states meet the requirements or not. Even though the work requirement threshold is 50 percent for all families, variation exists in states performance; some states indeed outperform, and others are barely above a target work rate owing to the caseload reduction credits. In this sense, it is plausible that higher taxable resources allow states to have more human and financial resources and to establish advanced systems,

69

which help states to achieve higher performance. The result might have been different if a dependent variable was binary reflecting whether states meet the federal requirement.

In the case of the previous year's TANF caseload, the interpretation of the test result may be different according to how this variable is framed and understood. As it is mentioned in chapter 4, it may be explained by states' effort to respond to high caseloads in a previous year and to solve problems that may harm their federal funding. Also, it can be understood in the context of states' demand such that higher demand for the program (i.e., high caseload) may lower the performance given limited resources. In order to identify the true causation /relationship between TANF caseloads and work participation, more information is needed (e.g., number of caseworkers, their salaries, or changes state made to deal with high caseloads).

Moreover, this study is not perfect in the operationalization of variables, and the way variables are structured does not fully reflect their characteristics. The statistical method this study uses does not allow for having ordinal independent variables in the model, so several independent variables are set as binary. But in fact some of them may be better represented in other forms. For instance, sanction is coded based on its coverage in terms of whether it is imposed on entire families or only a noncompliant individual; however, in fact details of sanction policy vary across states. With a different model and analytic technique, sanction effects may be more accurately measured set in an ordinal form as partial, gradual full family and immediate full family sanctions instead of a binary form. In this study, gradual and immediate full family sanctions are not distinguished, but the impact of two on the TANF work participation might be different given that immediate full family sanction is more severe.

70

Also, states with partial and gradual full family sanctions set different amounts of grant reduction for each violation, and if this variable is organized in a different, more specified way and analyzed, the results might be different. The same could be said about the states' lifetime limit and diversion program variables. States with shorter lifetime limits than the federal limit do have different periods (i.e., 21 months, 24 months, 36 months and 48 months), and each state designs general assistance and diversion programs quite differently in terms of the payment amount and periods. Such details unfortunately are not reflected in this study.

5.3. Future Research

5.3.1 Policy Adoption in SSF Program and WSP

This study has potential subjects that can be researched in the future. First of all, the adoption of solely state funded programs and/or worker supplement programs can be a good start. It seems apparent why states adopted and implemented those programs. But it is unidentified what factors facilitate or procrastinate the adoption/implementation of those programs. In this sense, it seems meaningful to identify determinants of those programs implementation from policy diffusion perspectives. The united government innovation model by Berry and Berry⁵⁹ may be employed to capture both internal and external factors that drive policy diffusion in solely state funded programs and worker supplement programs. Since both programs aim for the same purpose and can be regarded as 'complementary' increasing the probability of states' each policy adoption (Berry and Berry, 2007), they can be interchangeably used as a dummy variable for the counterpart policy adoption to measure the likelihood of states to adopt the new policy.

⁵⁹ The state government innovation model is as follows: $ADOPT_{it} = f(Motivation_{it}, Resources/Obstacles_{it}, Other Policies_{it}, External_{it}).$

Further research in the context of policy diffusion will help us better understand states' policy decision under federalism.

5.3.2 Sanction and State Generosity for Qualified Immigrants

The test results showed that sanctions are effective tools in improving TANF performance, but that does not give much information on how sanctions affect the level of poverty and overall recipients' self-sufficiency. If sanctions work in a way to discourage recipients and eliminate them from the roll, states eventually would have a higher poverty level, which is ironic because those states achieving higher performance in TANF would have higher poverty. From this perspective, it is necessary to conduct additional studies using different dependent variables such as poverty rate, the ratio of TANF caseload to families below federal poverty level, and the transition of sanctioned adult to employment in assessing sanction effect on TANF. By doing so, we may be able to understand sanction effects more accurately and confirm whether sanctions are truly effective tools in a way to encourage recipients to engage in work activities in TANF.

Another challenging but necessary area of studies is to evaluate the impact of states' programs for legal (qualified) immigrants. Some states have covered qualified immigrants for their waiting periods since 1996 welfare reform with state funds, but the success or impact of such program has not been reported yet. A vast majority of studies have focused on immigrants' longer use of welfare or their preference for states providing higher welfare benefits. As immigrants' demand for welfare increases, it is time to seriously consider whether states' generosity for qualified immigrants has positively worked to increase their self-sufficiency.

72

Tracking post welfare immigrants' receipt of welfare during the waiting period and their status after the period ends will enable us to find out differences between states with and without programs covering qualified immigrants. This will require more in-depth information that are not currently provided, such as the proportion of post welfare immigrants among TANF recipients, whether they received benefits from states during their waiting periods or not, and how many of them exited the TANF due to employment, not sanction or exhausted time limit.

APPENDIX A

DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS

	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	SD
Solely State Funded (SSF) Program	0	1	.474	.500
Worker Supplement Program (WSP)	0	1	.289	.454
SSF x WSP	0	1	.171	.377
Full Family Sanction	0	1	.906	.293
Sanction Effect on SNAP	0	1	.331	.471
GA Program	0	1	.589	.493
Coverage of Qualified Aliens	0	1	.446	.498
State EITC	0	.33	.067	.099
Shorter Time Limit	0	1	.220	.415
Diversion w/o Restriction	0	1	.117	.322
Government Ideology	0	92.451	49.207	28.054
Non white	.039	.754	.218	.126
Female headed households	.046	.106	.071	.011
Work Sanction t-1	0	.199	.026	.034
Unemployment t-1	.026	.137	.067	.024
Log (TTS per capita)	10.592	11.423	10.971	.196
Log (max monthly benefit)	5.136	6.828	5.991	.386
Log (maxi initial income threshold)	0	7.497	6.466	1.026
Caseload t-1	5.587	13.308	9.701	1.260

APPENDIX B

State	Implementation Date
Colorado	May 31, 2007-July 1, 2010
Connecticut	Oct 1, 2007
Delaware	Oct 1, 2006
Georgia	$FY \ 2007^{1}$
Idaho	FY 2007 ²
Illinois	Oct 1, 2006
Louisiana	Oct 2006
Maryland	Oct 1, 2006
Massachusetts	Oct 6, 2006
Michigan	Oct 1, 2006
Minnesota	Oct 1, 2006
Mississippi	FY 2007 ³
Missouri	Oct 1, 2006
Nebraska	Oct 1, 2006
New Hampshire	Oct 1, 2008- July 1, 2011 ⁴
New Jersey	FY 2007 ⁵
New Mexico	July 1, 2007- July 1, 2012
New York	Oct 1, 2006
Oregon	Oct 1, 2011
Pennsylvania	Oct 1, 2007
South Carolina	Oct, 2006^{6}
Texas	Oct 1, 2007
Utah	Oct 1, 2006
Vermont	May 17, 2007
Virginia	FY 2007^7
West Virginia	October, 2007

STATES IMPLEMENTING SOLELY STATE FUNDED PROGRAMS FOR TWO-PARENT FAMILIES BETWEEN FY 2007 AND FY 2013

Source: TANF state plan, TANF work verification plan, TANF caseload reduction credit reports, and the Legislative Audit Council report, GAO report (May 2010), and CBPP report by Schott and Parrott^{**} (2009)

Notes: Implementation dates are provided by various sources as mentioned above, and some documents only offer information including a year and a month without an exact day of implementation.

¹Georgia's recent TANF state plan (FY2014-FY 2015) states that effective FY 2007, two able-bodied parents have been provided with cash assistance through 100% state funds, which do not count toward MOE.

² According to the Idaho TANF Work Verification Plans published in September, 2006 and September 2008 which was revised three times (August and September, 2008 and June, 2011) and currently effective as of 2015, it is confirmed that Idaho has been served two-parent families through separate state-funds that do not count toward MOE since FY 2007.

³ The first state plans seem to be published in 1997 and updated several times in 2006, 2011-2014, and 2014-2017. According to Mississippi's TANF state plan of FY 2006 and FY2011-2014, Mississippi has

implemented state programs for two-parent families that do not count toward state MOE. Since there was no updated version between FY 2006 and FY 2011-FY 2014, it is assumed that the same state plan would apply during the period of FY 2007-FY2010. Just in case state plans for the period of FY 2007-FY 2010 was published but are not available, other sources were also checked out. GAO report published in May 2010 and CBPP report by Schott and Parrott (2009), verified that Mississippi also implemented a solely state funded program for two-parent families in FY 2007 and FY 2009.

⁴ New Hampshire ended its Unemployed Parent program (financial assistance) for employable two parent families, effective July 1, 2011 due to budget constraints. It is checked that in 2013 legislative session, HB 261 regarding the UP program was passed on July 3, 2013 and took effect August 31, 2013. ⁵ Available NJ TANF state plans that cover the period of FY 2007-FY2013 are state plan for FY2006-2008 and state plan for FY 2012-2014. FY 2012-2014 state plan clearly states that New Jersey is implementing a "State Only" WFNJ Program for two-parent households solely with State funding. The TANF state plan of FY 2006-2008 also indicated that New Jersey maintained a "State Only" WFNJ Program for two-parent families, but the funding source was different; it was provided with state MOE funding. Based on the other sources and the passage of DRA, it is thought that New Jersev served twoparent families with state MOE funds under a separate state program, where recipients assisted through separate state programs previously were not counted in the work participation rate before the DRA took effect. It was also confirmed by the GAO report published in May 2010 and CBPP report by Schott and Parrott (2009) that New Jersey implemented solely state funded program in FY 2007 and FY 2009 respectively. It is predicted that New Jersey made a transition from separate state program to solely state funded program sometime between FY 2006 and FY 2007 as other states did to respond to the DRA. Also, it looks very plausible that New Jersey later revised the TANF state plan of FY 2006-FY2008, which was submitted on December 2005, in response to the DRR, though it is not available online.

⁶ It was not found in TANF state plan, work verification plan, or caseload reduction report. The information is obtained form the Legislative Audit Council report.

⁷ The latest TANF state plan renewal is posted on the website of Virginia Department of Social Services, and it is effective Oct 1, 2010. Both state plan and TANF manual state that Virginia serves two-parent families through a state non-MOE program, and expenditures do not count toward state MOE. Due to the unavailability of previous state plans and other documents, it was unclear whether Virginia held the same program with the same funding source during the period, FY2007-FY 2010 in the state TANF plan. But, based on the GAO report published in May 2010 and CBPP report by Schott and Parrott (2009), which confirm that Virginia implemented a solely state funded program in FY 2007 and FY 2009 respectively, and the information given by state plan that Virginia employed separate state program to serve two-parent families since Oct 1, 1999, it is predicted that Virginia might make a transition from separate state program to solely state funded program to the passage of DRA.

^{**}CBPP report by Schott and Parrott (2009) is a report that shows states with solely state funded program as of January 2009, and it has little difference with my collection on states implementing SSF program. Georgia, Louisiana, and Texas, which were not included in the report by Schott and Parrott (2009), are included based on the state plans I found. To illustrate, according to the Georgia's latest state plan FY2014-FY 2015, it is stated that Georgia has provided cash assistance to two able-bodied parents through100% state funds that will not be claimed for MOE, effective FY 2007. Louisiana's latest TANF work verification plan, revised on December 5, 2014, states that Louisiana assist to-parent families with '100%, non-MOE state funds', and thus their caseloads will not be included in the work participation calculation. Lastly, Texas state plan renewal, which was latest and effective October 1, 2010, also states that Texas has served two-parent families through state funded program, effective October 1, 2007. It clearly indicates that the expenditures for those people are not counted as state MOE, and the caseload for two-parent families assisted through the state fund are not included in the assistance caseloads.

There are three states, Arkansas, California, and Rhode Island, that I coded as not implementing solely state funded program for two-parent families though they were included as states with solely state funded program in the Schott and Parrott (2009)'s report. As they stated, Arkansas law authorized the adoption of

solely state funded program, but has not implemented it, so it was treated as not implementing solely state funded program for two-parent families. In the case of California, it is coded as not implementing a solely state funded program because California did not implement SSF programs during that period, (though CA started implementing SSF beginning of October 1 2013), and its target group is not two-parent families. Beginning October 1, 2013, California established a solely state funded program and assigned time exhausted (Safety Net) and drug and fleeing felon cases under a solely state funded program. Also, effective March 1, 2015, long-term sanctioned cases are assisted through a solely state funded program. Effective April 1, 2015, drug felons may be eligible for CalWORKs. Lastly, Schott and Parrott (2009)'s report stated that Rhode Island implemented a solely state funded program serving two-parent families in 2009, but it was not found in any of written sources. It was only found that Rhode Island served child only cases through a solely state funded program, but it was discontinued as of October 2008 and eliminated in June 2009 (GAO-10-164). In addition, it seems that no state funds were spent on cash assistance during FY 2009-FY 2011, and RI even did not spend TNAF block grant both in 2011 and 2012, by the amount of \$70.6 million and \$ 4.4 million, respectively.

APPENDIX C

States	Implementation Date	Program Name
Arkansas	July, 2006	Arkansas Work Pays
Indiana	October 1, 2011	Solely state funded cash assistance
		minimum program
Kansas	January 1, 2009	Work Incentive Payment
Maine	September, 2008	TANF Work Supplement (TWS) ¹
Massachusetts	October, 2007	Supplemental Nutrition Allowance ¹
Michigan	February 1, 2007	Extended Family Independence (FIP)
Minnesota	Feb 1, 2009-Dec 1, 2014	Work Benefit (WB)
Missouri	October, 2008	Transitional Employment Benefit
Nebraska	October 1, 2007	Transitional benefits for TANF
		leavers
New	October 1, 2011	Nutritional Supplement for Working
Hampshire		Families (NSWF) ¹
New Mexico	July 1, 2008-Jan 31,2011	Transition Bonus
North Dakota	September, 2007	Transition Assistance
Oregon	Oct, 2007-May 1, 2012	Post-TANF program
	October 1, 2011	Job Participation Incentive (JPI) ¹
Pennsylvania	March 28, 2009	Transitional Cash Assistance (TCA)
South Dakota	* _	Transitional Employment Allowance
Utah	February, 2007	Transitional Cash Assistance (TCA)
Vermont	October, 2008	Reach Ahead
Virginia	October, 2006	VIEW Transitional Payment (VTP)
Washington	July 1, 2007-Sep 30, 2010	WorkFirst Career Services

STATES IMPLEMENTING WORKER SUPPLEMENT PROGRAMS STRUCTURING AS ASSISTANCE BETWEEN FY 2007 AND FY 2013

Source: TANF State Plan, TANF policy manual, TANF caseload reduction report, GAO report (May 2010), and CBPP report (Schott, 2008)

Note: Implementation dates are obtained from various sources listed. Some do not offer exact days, and in this case, they are shown as provided.

^{*} The exact implementation date was not found, but South Dakota has implemented transitional employment allowance program since 1997 according to the administrative rules of South Dakota (CHAPTER 67:10:08). The latest TANF state plan also says that this payment is considered assistance, and the 60-month time limit applies.

¹ Maine, Massachusetts, New Hampshire, and Oregon offer former TANF recipients with cash assistance for food benefits. Maine provides monthly food benefits for up to 3 consecutive years (\$100 for first 12 months, \$75, for the second 12 months, and \$50 for the third 12 months) through state MOE funds. Massachusetts provides \$10 per month to former TANF recipients who left due to employment earnings or working families only receiving SNAP. New Hampshire offers a twice-monthly nutritional assistance stipend. Along with its Post-TANF program, which provides \$50 monthly for former TANF clients due to employment earnings up to 12 months, Oregon also provides \$10 food benefits per month to working families with children.

APPENDIX D

STATES IMPLEMENTING WORKER SUPPLEMENT PROGRAMS STRUCTURING AS NON-ASSISTANCE BETWEEN FY 2007 AND FY 2013

States	Implementation Date	Program Name
Connecticut	FY 2009	Child Care for TANF leavers
Georgia	Oct, 2006-July 1, 2011	Work Support Program
Hawaii	Sep 2006-Dec 31, 2011	Exit and Job retention bonus program
Kentucky	April, 2003	Work Incentive Program (WIN)
Louisiana	July 1, 2000-Dec 1, 2011	Post FITAP
Mississippi		Post Employment Assistance Program
	*	1. Transitional work stipend
	-	2. Job Retention Bonus ¹
		3. Transitional Child Care (TCC)
New Jersey	April 1, 2001	\$100 benefits up to 24 months
-	-	Child care up to 24 consecutive months
New York	October, 2009	Work Support Program
Ohio	August 1, 2006	Employment Retention Incentive (ERI)
West	*	Employment Assistance Program (EAP)
Virginia	-	

Source: TANF State Plan, TANF policy manual, TANF caseload reduction report, GAO report (May 2010), and CBPP report (Schott, 2008)

Note: Implementation dates are obtained from various sources listed. Some do not offer exact days, and in this case, they are shown as provided.

* The exact implementation date was not found, but post employment assistance program is stated in Mississippi state plan FY 2006 and FY 2011-2014. West Virginia state plan describes programs for former TANF recipients who left TANF due to employment, but specific date of implementation is not found.

¹ According to the Mississippi policy manual, a job retention bonus is no longer provided to former TANF recipients effective Feb 15, 2012.

APPENDIX E

STATES DISQUALIFYING SNAP FOR FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH TANF WORK REQUIREMENTS MORE THAN THE FEDERAL MINIMUM BETWEEN FY 2007 AND FY 2013

	SNAP Disqualification Periods for failure to comply with	
States	TANF work requirement	
	(In order of 1 st , 2 nd , 3 rd or/and subsequent violations)	
Arkansas	3 months or until compliance, whichever occurs first	
	6 months or until compliance, whichever occurs first	
	12 months or until compliance, whichever occurs first	
Connecticut	3 months or UC, whichever is later	
	6 months or UC, whichever is later	
	6 months or UC, whichever is later	
	An individual who fails to comply with TANF work requirements is:	
	1) Head of household: penalties apply to the entire households	
	*If an individual who violated the third is the head for the third violation,	
	he/she continues to be ineligible beyond the 180 days.	
Florida	An individual who fails to comply with TANF work requirements is:	
	1) Head of household: entire unit is ineligible for SNAP for 1 month, 3 month,	
	and 6 months	
	2) Not a head: only non-compliant individual is ineligible for 1 month, 3	
	month, and 6 months	
Georgia	-Disqualification applies for the same period of TANF penalty.	
	-SNAP work sanction is applied for as long as the individual is TANF	
	sanctioned, lasting for no more than 12 months when an individual is	
	permanently sanctioned for noncompliance with TANF work requirements.	
	-TANF Two-Step sanction period:	
	First violation: 25% reduction for 3 months	
	Second violation: termination for 3 months	
	Subsequent violations: 25% reduction for 3 months, Termination for 12	
	months, 25% reduction for 12 month, the cycle repeated	
Idaho	Disqualification applies for the same period of TANF penalty.	
	1) Time limited TANF penalty: SNAP penalty is applied when TANF penalty	
	is ended.	
	2) Lifetime TANF penalty: apply SNAP penalty for a length of time to match	
	the remaining months of TANF eligibility	
	-TANF penalty: entire household is ineligible for the following periods.	
	1 month or until compliance, whichever is longer	
	3 month or until compliance, whichever is longer	
	Lifetime termination	
Illinois	3 months, 3 months, 6 months	
Kansas	Comparable disqualification applied for the same period of TANF penalty,	
	3 month, 6 month, and 12 months	

	SNAP Disqualification Periods for failure to comply with	
States	TANF work requirement	
	(In order of 1^{st} , 2^{nd} , 3^{rd} or/and subsequent violations)	
Michigan	1 month or until compliance, whichever is longer	
C	6 months or until compliance, whichever is longer for the 2nd and	
	subsequent violations	
Minnesota	Sanction comes with noncompliance with TANF work requirements	
	because TANF consists of monthly benefit in cash and to help pay	
	for food.	
	10% reduction for the 1 st violation,	
	30% reduction for the 2nd to 6th violation,	
	Closure for the 7 th violation.	
Mississippi	An individual who fails to comply with TANF work requirements is:	
	1) A head: the entire HH will be disqualified according to the	
	penalties listed. Remaining household members disqualification	
	cannot exceed 6 months even if the head remains ineligible.	
	2) Not the head: 2 months, 6months, 12 months, permanent	
	disqualification for the 4th violation.	
Nebraska	An individual who fails to comply with TANF work requirements is:	
	1) A head: the entire HH becomes ineligible for 1 month, 3 months,	
	and 6 months.	
	2) A member other than the head, the individual is ineligible for 1	
	month, 3 months, and 6 months.	
	** Effective 10/01/2007, employment first work requirements are	
	incorporated into food stamp work requirements, treating TANF	
	sanction for noncompliance with work requirements as a SNAP	
	work requirement disgualification.	
New Mexico	3 months or until compliance, whichever is later	
	6 months or until compliance, whichever is later	
	12 months or until compliance, whichever is later	
New York	2 months and thereafter until compliance,	
	4 months and thereafter until compliance,	
	6 months and thereafter until compliance	
South	1 month & the date the individual agrees to comply,	
Carolina	3 months and the date the individual agrees to comply,	
	6 months and the date the individual agrees to comply	
Utah	1 month AND until compliance,	
	3 months AND until compliance,	
	6 months AND until compliance	

	SNAP Disqualification Periods for failure to comply with
States	TANF work requirement
	(In order of 1^{st} , 2^{nd} , 3^{rd} or/and subsequent violations)
Virginia	-Program participation is voluntary as of Jan 1, 2012, and TANF
_	manual states that VIEW sanctioned participants will no longer be
	subject to a comparable sanction for SNAP purposes.
	Until 2011, comparable disqualification applied.
	-An individual who fails to comply with TANF work requirements
	is:
	1) A head of household, the entire household will be ineligible for
	the sanction period, 1 month, 3 months, 6 months
	2) Not a head of household: the individual will be only disqualified
	for the same period above.
West	Maximum of 3 months, maximum 6 months, maximum of 12
Virginia	months
~ ~ ~ ~	

Source: state SNAP policy manual, administrative code, and TANF state plan

APPENDIX F

FIXED EFFECTS MODEL OF TANF WORK PARTICIPATION RATES WITHOUT WORKER SUPPLEMENT PROGRAM

	Combined WPR
Solely State Funded (SSF) Program	0.041
	(0.041)
SSF x Worker Supplement Program	0.073**
	(0.031)
Full Family Sanction	0.325***
	(0.017)
Sanction Effect on SNAP	0.134**
	(0.059)
GA Program	0.017
	(0.030)
Coverage of Qualified Aliens	-0.006
	(0.019)
State EITC	0.454
	(0.308)
Shorter Time Limit	0.031
	(0.039)
Diversion w/o Restriction	0.005
	(0.033)
Government Ideology	-0.000
	(0.000)
Non-White	-0.220
	(0.632)
Female-headed Households	-3.588**
	(1.667)
Work Sanction rate t-1	0.120
	(0.372)
Unemployment t-1	-0.141
	(0.329)
Log (TTS per capita)	0.274**
	(0.118)
Log (Maximum Monthly Benefits)	0.257***
	(0.089)
Log (Maximum Initial Income Threshold)	-0.085
	(0.055)
Log (Caseload t-1)	0.066
	(0.041)
_cons	-4.355
	(1.567)
Within $\overline{R^2}$	0.27
Ν	350

Note: Robust standard errors are in parenthesis. * p<0.1; ** p<0.05; *** p<0.01

REFERENCES

- Acs, G., & Loprest, P. (2007). TANF Caseload Composition and Leavers Synthesis Report (Contract No. 233-02-0092). Retrieved from the Urban Institute website: http://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/alfresco/publication-pdfs/411553-TANF-Caseload-Composition-and-Leavers-Synthesis-Report.PDF
- Albert, V., & King, W. (2011). Citizenship Status and TANF Exits: A Proportional Hazard Model. *Journal of Social Service Research*, *37*(3), 294-308.
- Allard, S.W. (2006). A Starting Foul in the Study of the Race to the Bottom: A Comment on "Measuring Stat TANF Policy Variations and Change After Reform". *Social Science Quarterly*, 87(4), 782-790.
- Allard, S.W., & Danziger, S. (2000). Welfare Magnets: Myth or Reality?. *The Journal of Politics*, 62(2), 350-368.
- Bailey, M.A. (2005). Welfare and the Multifaceted Decision to Move. *American Political Science Review, 99*(1), 125-135.
- Bailey, M.A., & Rom, M.C. (2004). A Wider Race? Interstate Competition across Health and Welfare Programs. *The Journal of Politics*, *66*(2), 326-347.
- Beck, N., & Katz, J.N. (1995). What to Do (and Not to Do) with Time-Series Cross-Section Data. *American Political Science Review*, 89(3), 634-647.
- Beck, N., & Katz, J.N. (1996). Nuisance vs. Substance: Specifying and Estimating Time-Series-Cross-Section Models. *Political Analysis*, 6(1), 1-36.
- Beck, N., & Katz, J.N. (2001). Throwing Out the Baby with the Bath Water: A Comment on Green, Kim, and Yoon. *International Organization*, 55(2), 487-495.
- Bednar, J. (2011). The Political Science of Federalism. *The Annual Review of Law and Social Science*, 7, 269-288.
- Berry, F.S., &Berry, W.D. (2007). Innovation and Diffusion Models in Policy Research. In P. A. Sabatier (Ed.), *Theories of the Policy Process* (pp. 223-260). Boulder, CO: Westiview Press.
- Berry, W.D., & Fording, R.C. (1997). Measuring State Tax Capacity and Effort. *Social Science Quarterly*, 78(1), 158-166.
- Berry, W.D., Fording, R.C., & Hanson, R.L. (2003). Reassessing the "Race to the Bottom" in State Welfare Policy. *Journal of Politics*, 65(2), 327-349.

- Berry, W.D., Fording, R.C., Ringquist, E.J., Hanson, R.L., & Klarner, C.E. (2010). Measuring Citizen and Government Ideology in the U.S. States: A Re-apppraisal. *State Politics and Policy Quarterly*, 10(2), 117-135.
- Berry, W.D., Ringquist, E.J., Fording, R.C., & Hanson, R.L. (1998). Measuring Citizen and Government Ideology in the American States, 1960-93. *American Journal of Political Science*, 42(1), 327-348.
- Barrilleaux, C., & Bernick, E. (2003). Deservingness, Discretion, and the State Politics of Welfare Spending, 1990-96. *State Politics and Policy Quarterly*, 3(1), 1-22.
- Blank, R.M. (1988). The Effect of Welfare and Wage Levels on the Location Decisions of Female-headed Households. *Journal of Urban Economics*, 24(2), 186-211.
- Blau, J., & Abramovitz M. (2010). Introduction: Social Problems, Social Policy, Social Change. *The Dynamics of Social Welfare Policy* (pp.3-18). New York: Oxford University Press, Inc.
- Bloom, D., & Winstead, D. (2002). Sanctions and Welfare Reform (Policy Brief No.12). Retrieved from the Brookings Institution website: http://www.brookings.edu/~/media/research/files/papers/2002/1/01welfarebloom/pb12.pdf
- Borjas, G.J. (1999). Immigration and Welfare Magnets. *Journal of Labor Economics*, 17(4), 607-637.
- Borjas, G.J., & Hilton, L. (1996). Immigration and the Welfare State: Immigrant Participation in Means-Tested Entitlement Programs. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 111(2), 575-604.
- Bowling, C.J., & Pickerill, J.M. (2013). Fragmented Federalism: The State of American Federalism 2012-13. *Publius: The Journal of Federlism*, 1-32.
- Born, C.E., Caudill, P.J., & Cordero, M.L. (1999). Life After Welfare: A Look At Sanctioned Families. Retrieved from University of Maryland, Welfare and Child Support Research and Training Group website: http://www.familywelfare.umaryland.edu/reports1/ffsanctions.pdf
- Broder, T., & Blazer, J. (2011). *Overview of Immigrant Eligibility for Federal Programs*. Retrieved from the National Immigration Law Center website: http://www.nilc.org/overview-immeligfedprograms.html
- Brooks, M.G., & Buckner, J.C. (1996). Work and Welfare: Job Histories, Barriers to Employment, and Predictors of Work Among Low-income Single Mothers. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 66(4), 526-537.

- Browne, I. (2000). Opportunities Los? Race, Industrial Restructuring, and Employment among Young Women Heading Households. *Social Forces*, *78*(3), 907-929.
- Brueckner, J.K. (2000). Welfare Reform and the Race to the Bottom: Theory and Evidence. *Southern Economic Journal*, 66(3), 505-525.
- Budget and Deficit Reduction. (n.d.).In *the Center for Law and Social Policy website*. Retrieved September 9, 2016, from http://www.clasp.org/federal-policy/budget-and-deficit-reduction
- Cancian, M., Haveman, R.H., Meyer, D.R., & Wolfe, B. (2002). Before and After TANF: The Economic Well-Being of Women Leaving Welfare. *Social Service Review*, 76(4), 603-641.
- Cashin, S.D. (1999). Federalism, Welfare Reform, and the Minority Poor: Accounting for the Tyranny of State Majorities. *Columbia Law Review*, *99*(3), 552-627.
- Center on Budget and Policy Priorities (2016). *Policy Basics report: State Earned Income Tax Crdit*. Retrieved from http://www.cbpp.org/sites/default/files/atoms/files/policybasics-seitc.pdf
- Center on Budget and Policy Priorities (2012). *Policy Basics report: An Introduction to TANF*. Retrieved from http://www.cbpp.org/files/7-22-10tanf2.pdf
- Certo, S.T., & Semadeni, M. (2006). Strategy Research and Panel Data: Evidence and Implications. *Journal of Management*, 32(3), 449-471.
- Chetty, R., Friedman, J.N., & Saez, E. (2012). Using Differences in Knowledge across Neighborhoods to Uncover the Impacts of the EITC on Earnings (Working Paper No. 18232). Retrieved from the National Bureau of Economic Research website: http://www.nber.org/papers/w18232.
- Curtis, K.A. (1998). Welfare Reform in Delaware: "A Better Chance" for Whom?. *Publius: The Journal of Federalism, 28*(3), 105-122.
- Curtis, K.A. (2002). Financial Penalties Under the Temporary Assistance for Needy Families Program: Policy Discourse and Strategies for Reform. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues*, 23(3), 239-260.
- Cushing, B.J. (1993). The Effect of the Social Welfare System on Metropolitan Migration in the US, by Income Group, Gender, and Family Structure. *Urban Studies*, *30*(2), 325-338.
- Danielson, C., & Klerman, J.A. (2008). Did Welfare Reform Cause the Caseload Decline?. *Social Service Review*, 82(4), 703-730.

- De Jong, G.F., Graefe, D.R., Irving, S.K., Pierre, T.S. (2006). Measuring State TANF Policy Variations and Change After Reform. *Social Science Quarterly*, 87(4), 755-781.
- Douglas-Hall, A., & Koball, Heather (2004). *Children of Low-Income, Recent Immigrants*. Retrieved from the National Center for Children in Poverty website: http://www.nccp.org/publications/pub_609.html
- Eissa, N., & Liebman, J. (1996). Labor Supply Response to the Earned Income Tax Credit. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 605-637.
- Enchautegui, M.E. (1997). Welfare Payments and Other Determinants of Female Migration. Journal of Labor Economics, 15(3), 529-554.
- Ewalt, J.A.G., & Jennings Jr, E.T. (2004). Administration, Governance, and Policy Tools in Welfare Policy Implementation. *Public Administration Review*, *64*(4), 449-462.
- Falk, G. (2010). The TANF Emergency Contingency Fund (Congressional Research Report No. R41078). Retrieved from the Federation of American Scientists website: http://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/R41078.pdf
- Falk, G. (2012). *Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF): Welfare-to-Work Revisited* (Congressional Research Report No. R42768). Retrieved from the Federation of American Scientists website: https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/R42768.pdf
- Falk, G. (2013). The Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF) Block Grant: A Primer on TANF Financing and Federal Requirements (Congressional Research Report No. RL32748). Retrieved from the Federation of American Scientists website: http://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/RL32748.pdf
- Falk, G. (2013). Temporary Assistance for Needy Families: Welfare Waivers (Congressional Research Report No. R42627). Retrieved from the Federation of American Scientists website: https://www.fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/R42627.pdf
- Falk, G. (2016). The Temporary Assistance for Needy Families Block Grant: Responses to Frequently Asked Questions (Congressional Research Report No. RL32760). Retrieved from the Federation of American Scientists website: https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/RL32760.pdf
- Farrell, M., Rich, S., Turner, L., Seith, D., & Bloom, D. (2008). Welfare Time Limits: An Update on State Policies, Implementation, and Effects on Families (Contract No. HHSP23320045017XI, Task Order 10). Retrieved from the MDRC website: http://www.mdrc.org/sites/default/files/full 609.pdf
- Fellowes, M.C., & Rowe, G. (2004). Politics and the New American Welfare States. *American Journal of Political Science*, 48(2), 362-373.

- Figlio, D.N., Kolpin, V.W., & Reid, W.E. (1999). Do States Play Welfare Games?. *Journal* of Urban Economics, 46(3), 437-454.
- Floyd, I., Pavetti, L., & Schott, L. (2015). *TANF Continues to Weaken as a Safety Net*. Retrieved from the Center on Budget and Policy Priorities website: http://www.cbpp.org/research/family-income-support/tanf-continues-to-weaken-as-asafety-net

Food and Nutrition Act, 7 C.F.R. § 273.11(k) (2008).

- Fording, R.C., Soss, J., & Schram, S.F. (2007). Devolution, Discretion, and the Effect of Local Political Values on TANF Sanctioning. *Social Service Review*, *81*(2), 285-316.
- Gais, T.L. (2009). Stretched Net: The Retrenchment of State and Local Social Welfare Spending Before the Recession. *Publius: The Journal of Federalism*, 1-23.
- Gallagher, L.J. (1999). A Shrinking Portion of the Safety Net: General Assistance from 1989 to 1998 (Policy Brief No. A-36). Retrieved from the Urban Institute website: http://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/alfresco/publication-pdfs/309197-A-Shrinking-Portion-of-the-Safety-Net.PDF
- Gallagher, L.J., Gallagher, M., Schreiber, S., & Watson, K. (1998). One Year After Federal Welfare Reform: A Description of State Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF) Decisions as of October 1997 (Research Report). Retrieved from the Urban Institute website: http://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/alfresco/publication-pdfs/307472-One-Year-after-Federal-Welfare-Reform.PDF
- General Accounting Office. (2000). Welfare Reform: State Sanction Policies and Number of Families Affected. (GAO HEHS-00-44). Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- General Accounting Office. (2010). Temporary Assistance For Needy Families: Implications of Recent Legislative and Economic Changes for State Programs and Work Participation Rates. (GAO 10-525). Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Gray, V. (1976). Models of Comparative State Politics: A Comparison of Cross-Sectional and Time Series Analysis. *American Journal of Political Science*, 20(2), 235-256.
- Grogger, J. (2002). The Behavioral Effects of Welfare Time Limits. *The American Economic View*, 92(2), 385-389.
- Grogger, J. (2003). The Effects of Time Limits, The EITC, and Other Policy Changes on Welfare Use, Work, and Income among Female-Headed Families. *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 85(2), 394-408.

- Grogger, J. (2004). Time limits and Welfare Use. *Journal of Human Resources*, 39(2), 405-424.
- Haider, S.J., Schoeni, R.F., Bao, Y., & Danielson, C. (2004). Immigrants, Welfare Reform, and the Economy. *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management*, 23(4), 745-764.
- Hall, M., Graefe, D.R., & De Jong, G.F. (2010). Economic Self-Sufficiency Among Immigrants TANF-Leavers: Welfare Eligibility as a Natural Experiment. Social Science Research, 39(1), 78-91.
- Hardy, B.L., Muhammad, D., & Samudra, R. (2015). The Effect of the Earned Income Tax Credit in the District of Columbia on Poverty and Income Dynamics (Upjohn Institute Working Paper No. 15-230). Retrieved from the W.E. Upjohn Institute for Employment Research website: http://research.upjohn.org/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1247&context=up_workingpapers
- Hero, R.E. (1998). *Faces of Inequality: Social Diversity in American Politics*. Oxford, England: Oxford University Press.
- Hofferth, S.L., Stanhope, S., & Harris, K.M. (2002). Exiting Welfare in the 1990s: Did Public Policy Influence Recipients' Behavior?. *Population Research and Policy Review*, 21(5), 433-472.
- Hotz, V.J., & Scholz, J.K. (2003). The Earned Income Tax Credit. In Means-Tested Transfers in the U.S. Editor: Robert A. Moffitt, University of Chicago Press
- Howard. C. (1999). The American Welfare State, or States?. *Political Research Quarterly*, *52*(2), 421-442.
- Hensenfeld, Y., Ghose, T., & Larson, K. (2004). The Logic of Sanctioning Welfare Recipients: An Empirical Assessment. *Social Service Review*, 78(2), 304-319.
- Huber, E., Kassabian, D., & Cohen, E. (2014). Welfare Rules Databook: State TANF Policies as of July 2013 (OPRE Report 2014-52). Retrieved from the Office of Planning, Research, & Evaluation website: http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/opre/resource/welfare-rules-databook-state-tanfpolicies-as-of-july-2013
- Jimenez, B.S. (2009). Fiscal Stress and the Allocation of Expenditure Responsibility between State and Local Governments: An Explanatory Study. *State and Local Government Review*, 41(2), 1-35.
- Johnson, R.C., & Corcoran, M.E. (2003). Job Quality and Job Transition Patterns after Welfare Reform. *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management*, 22(4), 615-639.

- Johnston, J.M., & Lindaman, K. (1998). Implementing Welfare Reform in Kensans: Moving, But Not Racing. *Publius: The Journal of Federalism, 28*(3), 123-142.
- Karil, A., Seefeldt, K.S., Wang, H. (2002). Sanctions and Material Hardship under TANF. Social Service Review, 76(4), 642-662.
- Kauff, J., Derr, M.K., Pavetty, L., & Martin, E.S. (2007). Using Work-Oriented Sanctions to Increase TANF Program Participation (Contract No. HHSP233000024T). Retrieved from Mathematica website: http://www.mathematicampr.com/~/media/publications/PDFs/worksanctions.pdf
- Kaushal, N., & Kaestner, R. (2001). From Welfare to Work: Has Welfare Reform 1Worked?. Journal of Policy Analysis and Management, 20(4), 699-719.
- Keiser, L.R., Mueser, P.R., & Choi, S.W. (2004). Race, Bureaucratic Discretion, and the Implementation of Welfare Reform. *American Journal of Political Science*, 48(2), 314-327.
- Kim, B., & Fording, R.C. (2010). Second-Order Devolution and the Implementation of TANF in the U.S. States. *State Politics and Policy Quarterly*, *10*(4), 341-367.
- Klarner, C., Mao, X., & Buchanan, S. (2007). Business Interest Group Power and Temporary Assistance to Needy Families. *Social Science Quarterly*, 88(1), 104-119.
- Lee, B.J., Slack, K.S., & Lewis, D.A. (2004). Are Welfare Sanctions Working as Intended? Welfare Receipt, Work Activity, and Material Hardship among TANF-Recipient Families. Social Service Review, 78(3), 370-403.
- Levine, P.B., & Zimmerman, D.J. (1999). An Empirical Analysis of the Welfare Magnet Debate Using the NLSY. *Journal of Population Economics*, 12(3), 391-409.
- Levitis, J., & Koulish, J. (2008). *State Earned Income Tax Credits: 2008 Legislative Update*. Retrieved from the Center on Budget and Policy Priorities website: http://www.cbpp.org/files/6-6-08sfp1.pdf
- Lieberman, R.C., & Shaw, G.M. (2000). Looking Inward, Looking Outward: The Politics of State Welfare Innovation under Devolution. *Political Research Quarterly*, *53*(2), 215-240.
- Lindhorst, T., & Mancoske, R.J. (2006). The Social and Economic Impact of Sanctions and Time Limits on Recipients of Temporary Assistance to Needy Families. *Journal of Sociology and Social Welfare, 33*(1), 93-114.
- London, R.A. (2003). Which TANF Applicants Are Diverted, and What Are Their Outcomes?. *Social Service Review*, 77(3), 373-398.

- Lower-Baasch, E. (2015). *Work Participation Rate*. Retrieved from the Center for Law and Social Policy (CLASP) website: http://www.clasp.org/resources-and-publications/publication-1/TANF-101-Work-Participation-Rate.pdf
- Lurie, I. (1998). Watching the Race: Where You Sit Affects What You See. *Publius: The Journal of Federalism, 28*(3), 17-38.
- Mead, L.M. (2001). Welfare Reform in Wisconsin: The Local Role. *Administration and Society*, *33*(5), 523-554.
- Mead, L.M. (2003). Welfare Caseload Change: An Alternative Approach. *The Policy Studies Journal*, *31*(2), 163-185.
- Meyer, B.D. (2000). *Do the Poor Move to Receive Higher Welfare Benefits*?. Unpublished manuscript, Department of Public Policy, University of Chicago, II, U.S.
- Meyer, B.D., & Rosenbaum, D.T. (2000). Making Single Mothers Work: Recent Tax and Welfare Policy and It's Effects. *National Tax Journal*, *53*(4), 1027-1062.
- Meyer, B.D., & Rosenbaum, D.T. (2001). Welfare, the Earned Income Tax Credit, and the Labor Supply of Single Mothers. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 116(3), 1063-1114.
- Mikesell, J. (2007). Changing State Fiscal Capacity and Tax Effort in an Era of Devolving Government. *Publius: The Journal of Federalism, 37*(4), 532-550.
- Moffitt, R. (1983). An Economic Model of Welfare Stigma. *The American Economic Review*, 73(5), 1023-1035.
- Moffitt, R. (2003). The Role of Nonfinancial Factors in Exit and Entry in the TANF Program. *The Journal of Human Resources, 38*(), 1221-1254.
- Monnat, S.M. (2010). The Color of Welfare Sanctioning: Exploring the Individual and Contextual Roles of Race on TANF Case Closures and Benefit Reductions. *The Sociological Quarterly, 51*(4), 678-707.
- Neumark, D., & Wascher, W. (2007). Minimum Wages, the Earned Income Tax Credit, and Employment: Evidence from the Post-Welfare Reform Era (Discussion Paper No. 2610).
 Retrieved from the Institute for the Study of Labor website: http://ftp.iza.org/dp2610.pdf
- Noonan, M.C., Smith, S.S., & Corcoran, M.E. (2007). Examining the Impact of Welfare Reform, Labor Market Conditions, and the Earned Income Tax Credit on the Employment of Black and White Single Mothers. *Social Science Research*, 36(1), 95-130.

- Pavetti, L., Derr, M.K., & Hesketh, H. (2003). *Review of Sanction Policies and Research Studies* (Reference No. 8902-202). Retrieved from the Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation website: http://www.aspe.dhhs.gov/hsp/TANF-Sanctions03/full-report.pdf
- Pavetti, L., Rosenberg, L., & Derr, M.K. (2009). Understanding Temporary Assistance for Needy Families Caseloads After Passage of the Deficit Reduction Act of 2005 (Contract No. C604-3071-08-4). Retrieved from the Institute of Education Sciences website: http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED507480.pdf
- Pavetti, L., & Schott, L. (2011). TANF's Inadequate Response to Recession Highlights Weakness of Block-Grant Structure: Proponents Wrong to See It as Model for Medicaid, SNAP, or Other Low-Income Programs. Retrieved from the Center on Budget and Policy Priorities website: http://www.cbpp.org/files/7-14-11tanf.pdf
- Payne, L.W. (2013). Welfare Reform in the States: Does the Percentage of Female Legislators in State Legislatures Affect Welfare Reform Policies?. *Journal of Sociology* and Social Welfare, 40(3), 53-68.
- Petersen, M.B., Slothuus, R., Stubager, R., & Togeby, L. (2010). Deservingness versus values in public opinion on welfare: The Automaticity of the Deservingness Heuristic. *European Journal of Political Research*, *50*(1), 24-52.
- Peterson, P.E. (1996). Devolution's Price. Yale Law & Policy Review, 14(2), 111-121
- Peterson, P.E., & Rom, M.C. (1990). *Welfare Magnets: A New Case for a National Standard*. Washington D.C: Brookings Institution.
- Pierson, P. (1995). Fragmented Welfare States: Federal Institutions and the Development of Social Policy. *Governance*, 8(4), 449-478.
- Rector, R., & Youssef, S. (1999). *The Determinants of Welfare Caseload Decline*. Washington, D.C.: Heritage Foundation.
- Reichman, N.E., Teitler, J.O., & Curtis, M.A. (2005). TANF Sanctioning and *Hardship*. *Social Service Review*, *79*(2), 215-236.
- Ribar, D.C., Edelhoch, M., & Liu, Q. (2008). Watching the Clocks: The Role of Food Stamp Recertification and TANF Time Limits in Caseload Dynamics. *The Journal of Human Resources*, 43(1), 208-239.
- Rodgers Jr, H.R. (2005). Saints, Stalwarts, and Slackers: State Financial Contribution to Welfare Reform. *The Policy Studies Journal*, 33(4), 497-508.
- Rodgers Jr, H.R., & Payne, L. (2007). Child Poverty in the American States: The Impact of Welfare Reform, Economics, and Demographics. *The policy Studies Journal*, 35(1), 1-21.

- Rodgers Jr. H.R., & Tedin, K.L. (2006). State TANF Spending: Predictors of State Tax Effort to Support Welfare Reform. *Review of Policy Research, 23*(3), 745-759.
- Rodgers Jr, H.R., Beamer, G., & Payne, Lee. (2008). No Race in Any Direction: State Welfare and Income Regimes. *The Policy Studies Journal*, *36*(4), 525-543.
- Saavedra, L.A. (2000). A Model of Welfare Competition with Evidence from AFDC. *Journal* of Urban Economics, 47(2), 248-279.
- Schneider, A.L., & Ingram, H. (1993). Social Construction and Target Populations: Implications for Politics and Policy. *American Political Science Review*, 87(2), 334-347.
- Schott, L. (2008). Using TANF or MOE Funds to Provide Supplemental Assistance to Low-Income Working Families. Retrieved from the Center on Budget and Policy Priorities website: http://www.cbpp.org/sites/default/files/atoms/files/5-24-07tanf.pdf
- Schott, L. (2012). *An Introduction to TANF*. Retrieved from the Center on Budget and Policy Priorities website: http://www.cfpic.org/toolkit/wp-content/uploads/2011/12/Intro-to-TANF-11-16-12-cbpp.pdf
- Schott, L., & Cho, C. (2011). General Assistance Programs: Safety Net Weakening Despite Increased Need. Retrieved from the Center on Budget and Policy Priorities website: http://www.cbpp.org/files/10-26-11pov.pdf
- Schott, L., & Finch, I. (2010). TANF Benefits are Low and Have Not Kept Pace with Inflation: Benefits are not Enough to Meet Families' Basic Needs. Retrieved from the Center on Budget and Policy Priorities website: http://www.cbpp.org/files/10-14-10tanf.pdf
- Schott, L., & Hill, M. (2015). *State General Assistance Programs Are Weakening Despite Increased Need.* Retrieved from the Center on Budget and Policy Priorities website: http://www.cbpp.org/sites/default/files/atoms/files/7-9-15pov.pdf
- Schott, L., & Mann, C. (1998). Assuring That Eligible Families Receive Medicaid When TANF Assistance is Denied or Terminated. Retrieved from the Center on Budget and Policy Priorities website: http://www.cbpp.org/cms/index.cfm?fa=view&id=1420
- Schott, L., & Parrott, S. (2009). Designing Solely State-Funded Programs: Implementing Guide for One "Win-Win" Solution for Families and States. Retrieved from the Center on Budget and Policy Priorities website: http://www.cbpp.org/files/12-7-06tanf.pdf
- Schott, L., Pavetti, L., & Floyd, I. (2015). How States Use Federal and State Funds Under the TANF Block Grant. Retrieved from the Center on Budget and Policy Priorities website: http://www.cbpp.org/sites/default/files/atoms/files/4-8-15tanf_0.pdf

- Schram, S., Nitz, L., & Krueger, G. (1998). Without Cause or Effect: Reconsidering Welfare Migration as a Policy Problem. *American Journal of Political Science*, 42(1), 210-230.
- Schram, S.F., & Soss, J. (1998). Making Something Out of Nothing: Welfare Reform and a New Race to the Bottom. *Publius: The Journal of Federalism, 28*(3), 67-88.
- Shroder, M. (1995). Games the States Don't Play: Welfare Benefits and the Theory of Fiscal Federalism. *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 77(1), 183-191.
- Soss, J., Fording, R., & Schram, S.F. (2011). The Organization of Discipline: From Performance Management to Perversity and Punishment. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory*, 21(2), i203-i232.
- Soss, J., Schram, S.F., Vartanian, T.P., & O'Brien, E. (2001). Setting the Terms of Relief: Explaining State Policy Choices in the Devolution Revolution. *American Journal of Political Science*, 45(2), 378-395.
- Southwick, L. (1981). Public Welfare Programs and Recipient Migration. *Growth and Change*, *12*(4), 22-32.
- Stuber, J., & Kronebusch, K. (2004). Stigma and Other Determinants of Participation in TANF and Medicaid. *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management, 23*(3), 509-530.
- Susan, G. (2006). *The Wait is Over, the Work Begins: Implementing the New TANF Legislation*. Retrieved from the National Governors Association website: http://www.nga.org/files/live/sites/NGA/files/pdf/0606TANFLEGISLATION.PDF
- Sydow, Jörg., Schreyögg, G., & Koch, J. (2009). Organizational Path Dependence: Opening the Black Box. *The Academy of Management Review*, *34*(4), 689-709.
- Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF) Program Final Rule, 45 C.F.R. § 260.31 (1999).
- Tiebout, C.M. (1956). A Pure Theory of Local Expenditures. *Journal of Political Economy*, 64(5), 416-424. The Center on Budget and Policy Priorities. (2015, January). *State Earned Income Tax Credits* (Policy Basic/Issue Brief). Washington, D.C.
- The Center on Budget and Policy Priorities. (2015, June). An Introduction to TANF(Policy Basic/Issue Brief). Washington, D.C.
- The PEW Charitable Trusts. (2014, September). Mapping Public Benefits for Immigrants in the States (Issue Brief). Philadelphia.
- Tumlin, K.C., & Zimmermann, W. (2003). Immigrants and TANF: A Look at Immigrants Welfare Recipients in Three Cities (Occasional Paper No. 69). Retrieved from the Urban Institute website: http://www.urban.org/UploadedPDF/310874_OP69.pdf

- Uccello, C.E., & Gallagher, L.J. (1997). General Assistance Programs: The State-Based Part of the Safety Net (Series, Assessing New Federalism: Issues and Options for States No. A-4). Retrieved from the Urban Institute website: http://webarchive.urban.org/publications/307036.html
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, An Office of the Administration for Children and Families. (2012). *Characteristics and Financial Circumstances of TANF recipients*, *Fiscal Year 2012*. Retrieved from http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/ofa/resource/characteristics-and-financialcircumstances-appendix-fy2012
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, An Office of the Administration for Children and Families. (2015). *Work Verification Plan Guide*. Retrieved from http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/ofa/resource/data-reports/verification/workverification-plan-guide
- Vartanian, T., Schram, S., & Baumohl, J. (1999). Already Hit Bottom: General Assistance, Welfare Retrenchment, and Single Male Migration. *Journal of Sociology and Social Welfare*, 26(2), 151-174.
- Volden, C. (2002). The Politics of Competitive Federalism: A Race to the Bottom in Welfare Benefits?. *American Journal of Political Science*, *46*(2), 352-363.
- Walker, J.R. (1994). Migrating among Low Income Households: Helping the Witch Doctors Reach Consensus (Discussion paper 1031-94). Retrieved from the University of Wisconsin-Madison, Institute for Research on Poverty website: http://www.ssc.wisc.edu/irpweb/publications/dps/pdfs/dp103194.pdf
- Wallace, G.L. (2007). Welfare Flows and Caseload Dynamics. *Journal of Applied Economics*, 10 (2), 415-442.
- Wheaton, W.C. (1998). Decentralized Welfare Provision: Is There a "Race to the Bottom"? (Working paper 143308). Retrieved from the Social Science Research Network website: http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.143308
- Williams, E., Johnson, N., & Shure J. (2010). State Earned Income Tax Credits: 2010 Legislative Update. Retrieved form the Center on Budget and Policy Priorities website: http://www.cbpp.org/sites/default/files/atoms/files/11-10-09sfp.pdf
- Wu, C. (2008). Severity, Timing, and Duration of Welfare Sanctions, and the Economic Well-being of TANF Families with Children. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 30(1), 26-44.
- Wu, C., Cancian, M., Meyer, D.R., & Wallace, G.L. (2006). How Do Welfare Sanctions Work?. Social Work Research, 30(1), 33-50.

- Wu, C., Cancian, M., & Wallace, G. (2014). The Effect of Welfare Sanctions on TANF Exits and Employment. *Children and Youth Services Review*, *36*, 1-14.
- Wunder, C., & Riphahn, R.T. (2014). The Dynamics of Welfare Entry and Exit amongst Natives and Immigrants. *Oxford Economic Papers*, *66*(2), 580-604.
- Zedlewski, S.R. (2012). *Welfare Reform What Have We Learned in Fifteen Years* (Brief No. 24). Retrieved from the Urban Institute website: http://www.urban.org/publications/412539.html
- Ziliak, J.P., Figlio, D.N., Davis, E.E., & Connolly, L.S. (2000). Accounting for the Decline in AFDC Caseload: Welfare Reform or the Economy?. *The Journal of Human Resources*, *35*(3), 570-586.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH

Na Yeon Kim joined the doctoral program in Public Administration and Policy at Florida State University in 2012 and earned her doctoral degree in 2016. She holds Master's degrees in Economics from Boston University in 2011 and International Business from Ewha Womans University in 2007. She earned her Bachelor degree in Economics from Ewha Womans University in 2005. During her doctoral program, she has researched policy implementation and outcomes across states. Her research interests include public policy, social welfare policy, policy implementation and adoption, public management, strategic management, and bureaucratic discretion.